
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

CHILDREN & LEARNING OVERVIEW & 
SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE 

AGENDA 
 

7.00 pm 
Tuesday 

27 February 2018 
Town Hall 

 
Members 9: Quorum 4  
 
COUNCILLORS: 
 

Gillian Ford (Chairman) 
Meg Davis (Vice-Chair) 

John Glanville 
 

Viddy Persaud 
Keith Roberts 
Carol Smith 

 

Jody Ganly 
Ray Morgon 

Philippa Crowder 
 

 

CO-OPTED MEMBERS: Statutory Members 
representing the Churches 

Statutory Members 
representing parent 
governors 

 Lynne Bennett, Church of 
England 
Jack How, Roman Catholic 
Church 

Julie Lamb, Special Schools 
 

 
Non-voting members representing local teacher unions and professional associations:  
Vacant (NASUWT) and Ian Rusha (NUT) 
 
 
 

For information about the meeting please contact: 
Taiwo Adeoye – 01708 433079 

taiwo.adeoye@onesource.co.uk. 
 

Public Document Pack



Children & Learning Overview & Scrutiny Sub-Committee, 27 February 2018 

 
 

 

Protocol for members of the public wishing to report on meetings of the London 
Borough of Havering 
 
Members of the public are entitled to report on meetings of Council, Committees and Cabinet, 
except in circumstances where the public have been excluded as permitted by law. 
 
Reporting means:- 
 

 filming, photographing or making an audio recording of the proceedings of the meeting; 

 using any other means for enabling persons not present to see or hear proceedings at 
a meeting as it takes place or later; or 

 reporting or providing commentary on proceedings at a meeting, orally or in writing, so 
that the report or commentary is available as the meeting takes place or later if the 
person is not present. 

 
Anyone present at a meeting as it takes place is not permitted to carry out an oral commentary 
or report. This is to prevent the business of the meeting being disrupted. 
 
Anyone attending a meeting is asked to advise Democratic Services staff on 01708 433076 
that they wish to report on the meeting and how they wish to do so. This is to enable 
employees to guide anyone choosing to report on proceedings to an appropriate place from 
which to be able to report effectively. 
 
Members of the public are asked to remain seated throughout the meeting as standing up and 
walking around could distract from the business in hand. 
 
What is Overview & Scrutiny? 
Each local authority is required by law to establish an overview and scrutiny function to 
support and scrutinise the Council’s executive arrangements. Each overview and scrutiny sub-
committee has its own remit as set out in the terms of reference but they each meet to 
consider issues of local importance.  
 
The sub-committees have a number of key roles: 
 

1. Providing a critical friend challenge to policy and decision makers. 

 

2. Driving improvement in public services. 

 

3. Holding key local partners to account. 

 

4. Enabling the voice and concerns to the public. 

 

 

The sub-committees consider issues by receiving information from, and questioning, Cabinet 

Members, officers and external partners to develop an understanding of proposals, policy and 

practices. They can then develop recommendations that they believe will improve 

performance, or as a response to public consultations. These are considered by the Overview 

and Scrutiny Board and if approved, submitted for a response to Council, Cabinet and other 

relevant bodies. 



Children & Learning Overview & Scrutiny Sub-Committee, 27 February 2018 

 
 

 

 

Sub-Committees will often establish Topic Groups to examine specific areas in much greater 

detail. These groups consist of a number of Members and the review period can last for 

anything from a few weeks to a year or more to allow the Members to comprehensively 

examine an issue through interviewing expert witnesses, conducting research or undertaking 

site visits. Once the topic group has finished its work it will send a report to the Sub-Committee 

that created it and will often suggest recommendations for the Overview and Scrutiny Board to 

pass to the Council’s Executive. 

 

 

 Terms of Reference 
 

The areas scrutinised by the Committee are: 
 

 Pupil and Student Services (including the Youth Service) 

 Children’s Social Services 

 Safeguarding 

 Adult Education 

 Councillor Calls for Action 

 Social Inclusion  
 



Children & Learning Overview & Scrutiny Sub-Committee, 27 February 2018 

 
 

 

 



Children & Learning Overview & Scrutiny Sub-Committee, 27 February 2018 

 
 

 

AGENDA ITEMS 
 
1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND ANNOUNCEMENT OF SUBSTITUTE 

MEMBERS  

 
 (if any) - receive. 

 

2 DISCLOSURE OF  INTERESTS  

 
 Members are invited to disclose any interests in any of the items on the agenda at this 

point of the meeting.  Members may still declare an interest in an item at any time 
prior to the consideration of the matter. 
 

3 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 
 The Chairman will announce details of the arrangements in case of fire or other 

events that might require the meeting room or building’s evacuation. 
 

4 MINUTES (Pages 1 - 12) 

 
 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 

28 November 2017 and authorise the Chairman to sign them. 
 

5 THE OLIVE AP ACADEMY (Pages 13 - 16) 

 
 Briefing attached. 

 

6 IN YEAR ACCESS PROTOCOL (Pages 17 - 22) 

 
 Report attached. 

 

7 PERFORMANCE UPDATE REPORT - QUARTER THREE (Pages 23 - 38) 

 
 Report and presentation attached. 

 

8 REGIONALISATION OF ADOPTION SERVICES IN LONDON & THE ADOPTION 
SUPPORT FUND (Pages 39 - 46) 

 
 Report attached. 

 

9 HAVERING LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD- ANNUAL REPORT 
2016-17 (Pages 47 - 108) 

 
 Report attached. 

 

 
  

 
 
 

Andrew Beesley 
Head of Democratic Services 



Children & Learning Overview & Scrutiny Sub-Committee, 27 February 2018 

 
 

 

 



1M 

 

 
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 

CHILDREN & LEARNING OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE 
Committee Room 3B - Town Hall 

28 November 2017 (7.00  - 9.30 pm) 
 
 
Present: Councillors Gillian Ford (Chairman), John Glanville, 

Carol Smith, Jody Ganly, Ray Morgon and 
Philippa Crowder 
 

 Co-opted Members: Julie Lamb 
 

 Church Representatives: 
Lynne Bennett and Jack How 

 Non-voting Member:  
 

 The Chairman advised those present of action to be 
taken in the event of an emergency evacuation of the 
building becoming necessary 
 

 Apologies for absence were received from Councillor 
Viddy Persaud and Ian Rusha - co-opted member 

 
 
 
44 DISCLOSURE OF  INTERESTS  

 
There was no disclosure of interest. 
 

45 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Chairman reminded Members of the special meeting of the sub-
committee on Foster Carers scheduled for 14 December 2017.  
 

46 MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 31 August 2017 were agreed as correct 
records and signed by the Chairman. 
 
 

47 QUARTER 2 - PERFORMANCE INFORMATION  
 
The Sub-Committee received fourteen of the seventeen corporate 
performance indicators that fell under the remit of the Children & Learning 
Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee.  
 
The Assistant Director of Policy, Performance and Community outlined that 
six (43%) of the indicators have a status of Green while eight (57%) have a 
status of red under the revised tolerance ratings. 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Children & Learning Overview & Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee, 28 November 2017 

 

2M 

 

The report informed the Sub-Committee that the following three 
performance indicators that report to Overview & Scrutiny Board had all 
been rated at red for the quarter. 

 Total number of in-house foster carers 

 Percentage of looked after children placed in in-house foster 
care 

 Percentage of young people leaving care who are in 
education, employment or training at ages 18-21 

 
The Sub-Committee noted the following highlights: 
 

 The percentage of schools judged to be Good or Outstanding 
had increased since the last quarter and remain above target.  
Due to the school holidays there have been only two 
inspections since last quarter. Both schools were judged 
Good.  
 

 Recruitment of new in-house foster carers was ahead of 
schedule. Five new in-house foster carers were recruited in 
Quarter 2, putting the current number at eleven for the year 
and on track to meet the annual target of 20.   

 

 The proportion of Looked After Children (LAC) who ceased to 
be looked after as a result of permanency continue to improve 
and was currently above target.  

 

 The percentage of 16-18 year olds who were known not to be 
in education, employment or training (NEET) was below the 
annual target of 4.3% (where lower was better).  The figure 
was also below the national (6%) and London (5.3%) 
averages. Havering had continued to deliver the Havering 
Raising the Participation Age (RPA) transitions event to 
support post-16 learners into positive destinations.  The event 
was attended by over 200 learners and 600 parents / carers. 

 During September, there were no new CP Plans relating to 
children who had previously been on a plan within the last 2 
years, which brought performance back down within target. 

 
The Sub-Committee noted that the following areas required improvements: 
   

 Care Leavers in education – the percentage care leavers in 
education, employment or training was on a downward 
trajectory, but there was expectation of an improvement as 
destinations become better known.  Six Pathway Coordinators 
have also been recruited to work with young people and care 
leavers to help them plan their transitions into adulthood, 
including their education / employment route.  The service was 
also supporting LAC and care leavers to remain in education, 

Page 2



Children & Learning Overview & Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee, 28 November 2017 

 

3M 

 

employment or training through the innovation programme and 
in partnership with LB Hackney. 

 

 Adoption – Ten children who have been adopted or were 
currently placed with their prospective adoptive families were 
awaiting orders, six waited less than 14 months between 
starting to be looked after and moving in with their adoptive 
families. It was an improvement on 2016/17's outturn of 50%, 
but outside of target. Scrutiny had been applied to the 
permanency process and oversight is provided by the Edge of 
Care and LAC Panel on a 6 weekly basis. The service had 
also developed greater visibility and expectation around 
Independent Review Officer challenging permanency 
planning.  

 

 Recruitment of Foster Carer - Despite the recruitment of new 
in-house foster carers being ahead of schedule, the total 
number of in-house foster carers was lower than target. The 
innovation programme would re-design the fostering offer, 
particularly for specialist carers willing to foster 11-17 year 
olds with complex needs. The innovation programme officially 
launched in Q2 and the current plan is to have 4 specialist 
foster carers in place by the end of the financial year, it is 
expected that performance would improve in Q3 and Q4. 

 

 The percentage of looked after children “Staying Put” was 
based on the number of young people who ceased to be 
looked after on their 18th birthday who have a foster care 
placement and remain living with that carer.  By the end of 
September, two 18 year olds cease to be LAC who were 
eligible for Staying Put, however only one remained in 
placement. It was stated that work was underway to 
implement pathway plans for all relevant young people eligible 
for leaving care services. The plan would help to identify at an 
earlier stage young people who may be eligible for staying put 
and ensure that conversations happen at the earliest 
opportunity. At the end of October, the proportion of care 
leavers “staying put” had risen to 66.7%, which was slightly 
below the target of 70%. 

 

 Care Proceedings – A substantial amount of energy and 
commitment was going into achieving a reduction in 
timescales of care proceedings.  There had been notable shift 
towards shared responsibility to reduce delay by Children’s 
Services as well as the Courts. In Quarter 1, Havering’s 
average timescale for concluding proceedings was 40.9 
weeks.  In Quarter 2, it had reduced to 34 weeks.  It was noted 
that a number of long running cases which concluded in 

Page 3



Children & Learning Overview & Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee, 28 November 2017 

 

4M 

 

October 2017 would negatively affect performance in the 
coming months.  

 
The Sub-Committee noted the performance report. 

 
 

48 PRESENTATION ON POWER BI  
 
The Sub-Committee received a presentation on Power BI. It was stated that 
Power BI was a suite of business analytics tools that would deliver insights 
throughout the service that would that enable the user to visualize and 
analyse data with greater speed, efficiency, and understanding. 
 
Members noted that Power BI would connect users to a broad range of data 
through easy-to-use dashboards, interactive reports, and compelling 
visualizations that bring data to life with a unique 360 degree view for the 
user. 
 
The Sub-Committee was informed that within the service, Power BI would 
be used to produce key performance indicators, Ofsted Review and Special 
Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) Ofsted Review. 
It was noted that a total of 140 licences had been purchased. 
 
Members noted the interactive functions of the Ofsted Review dashboard 
and the SEND dashboard. One of its features included a drill down function 
that could be activated to support caseload management. 
 
The following benefits of Power BI were outlined: 

 The system integrates seamlessly with existing applications that existed 
within the service. 

 The rich personalized dashboards. The outstanding feature of Power 
BI was the information dashboards, which could be customised to meet 
the exact need of the user/service. You can easily embed the 
dashboards and BI reports in the applications to provide a unified user 
experience.  

 Publishing reports securely. Power BI provided a setup function enable 
the user setup automatic data refresh and publish reports allowing all 
the users to avail the latest information.  

 The use of Power BI would eliminate memory and speed constraints 
ensuring data was quickly retrievable and analysed. 

The Sub-Committee was informed about the following next steps: 

 Following the roll out of the tool, the service would continually refine 
and improve existing reports. 

 With the roll out of Power BI, performance indicators data would be 
viewed as dashboard reports 

 There were plans to develop a Leaving Care dashboard. 
 Encouraging the wider use of the tool kit. 

Page 4

https://azure.microsoft.com/en-in/services/power-bi-embedded/


Children & Learning Overview & Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee, 28 November 2017 

 

5M 

 

The Sub-Committee noted the presentation on Power BI. 
 
 

49 CHILDREN SERVICES ANNUAL COMPLAINTS REPORT 2016-17  
 
The Sub-Committee received the Children’s Services Complaints Annual 
report for 2016/17, which provided information about the numbers and types 
of complaints handled by the Children’s Service during 2016/17, as well as 
Members’ correspondence.  
 
The report was a requirement under the Children Act 1989 Representations 
Procedure (England) Regulations 2006 that the complaints annual report be 
published. 
 
The report informed the Sub-Committee that the service had made changes 
in its structure to strengthen its overall functioning and performance over the 
course of the last 18 months. The focus of the service to deliver on social 
care included the implementation of a systemic family therapy approach 
which entailed professionals spending more face to face time with children 
and families and working in partnership with and not doing to service users.  
 
The  Sub-Committee noted that the introduction of the approach was 
intended to deliver increased opportunities for intensive direct work with 
children, young people and families who access a wide range of services 
including Early Help including Edge of Care, Child in Need, Looked After 
Children or Child Protection. 

 
The report detailed that although Ombudsman enquiries increased from five 
in 2015/16 to six in 2016/17, there was one decision for maladministration 
injustice relating to SEN support, falling within the Children & Adults 
Disabilities Team coming under the responsibility of the Director of 
Children’s Services. 

 
There was an increase in complaints from 74 in 2015/16 to 92 in 2016/17; 
fifteen of these complaints were directly from young people, using the 
MOMO app.  One Stage 1 complaint progressed to Stage 2 with no 
complaints progressing to Stage 3.  Enquiries that fell outside the statutory 
process had more than doubled in 2016/17. 

 
Further to the changes within the structure of Children’s Services, which 
was designed to support and actively promote the systemic approach and 
direction of the service. The structural change could have been a 
contributory factor to the increase in complaint, although referrals leading to 
assessments also increased by 13% from 1,937 to 2,194. 

 
The report detailed that the main reasons for complaint were in relation to 
the level of service, lack of communication and behaviour of staff, although 
the report stated  that the level of service and behaviour of staff have more 
than halved from 28 to 13 and from 25 to 11 respectively.   

 

Page 5



Children & Learning Overview & Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee, 28 November 2017 

 

6M 

 

The Sub-Committee noted that the service had taken steps to provide 
information leaflets explaining the process for children and young people on 
child protection or being looked after. However face to face complaint 
meetings have played a part in providing parents/carers with better 
understanding of why certain actions are taken.  
 
The use of the Mind of My Own (MOMO) participation app by young people 
was increasing and it is encouraging that young people are using the app to 
raise their concerns. The main theme was lack of support/advice for those 
leaving care and in particular the early part of 2016/17 related to the transfer 
of savings on turning 18.  Children’s Services acted quickly by identifying 
those that were soon to be 18 and taking responsibility for ensuring savings 
were paid. 
 

There was an increase across complaints received for children 0-5 years 
and 18-24 years. Children on a Child in Need Plan under the age of one 
almost doubled with an average of 12 in 2015/16 to an average of 22 in 
201/617, which may have contributed to the increase in the age group. 
Complaints regarding savings may have contributed to the increase in the 
aged 18-24. Information regarding disability recorded a high number, the 
Children and Young Peoples Service would need to explore the reasons for 
the increase. There were also increases shown across White British, Mixed 
White & Asian and Mixed White & Black. 

 
The report outlined that Member enquires almost trebled in 2016/17 with 
75% being responded to within timescale. Compliments have decreased 
from 35 in 2015/16 to 16 in 2016/17. The Complaints & Information Team 
will need to remind and encourage staff to send this to the team for 
recording. 

 
The Sub-Committee was informed that there was a continued trend in the 
increase in complaints, member enquires and general enquires for 
Children’s Services which had impacted on response times.  The service 
would continue to use complaints as an important feedback resource and 
provide opportunities for young people to play a more active part in 
developing the service. 
 
The Sub-Committee the contents of the report and the continued efforts 
made by the service to learn from complaints and enable young people to 
engage with the complaints process. 
 
 

50 EDUCATION SERVICES ANNUAL COMPLAINTS REPORT 2016-17  
 
The Sub-Committee received a briefing on the Education Services Annual 
Complaints report for 2016/17.    
 
The report provided information on the complaints received during 2016/17. 
Members noted that Maintained Schools and Academies have individual 

Page 6



Children & Learning Overview & Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee, 28 November 2017 

 

7M 

 

own complaints procedure which were dealt with through their Governing 
Bodies and not included within the report.  
 
The Sub-Committee was informed that Schools admissions and exclusions 
were dealt with through a statutory appeals process and also not included in 
the report. 
 
The Sub-Committee noted the following: 
 

1. Education Services had gone through a structural change in 2016/17 
resulting in senior management and team changes.  
 

2. The service had one ombudsman enquiry in 2016/17, which did not 
progress to investigation. The number of complaints decreased from 
31 in 2015/16 to 18 in 2016/17.  There was a significant drop in the 
number of complaints for Education Provision and Commissioning 
Service. Children & Adults with Disabilities Team complaints also 
reduced by almost half. The number of complaints for Education & 
Inclusion remained at the same level as in 2015/16. 
 

3.  The main reasons for complaint were related to quality and reliability, 
late delivery or slow service and availability of the service.  This 
referred to delays in completing EHC Plans and implementing 
provision, placements at special units and general concerns about 
schools in particular penalty charges for non-attendance. 
 

4. Complaints that were directed to either the relevant school or college 
were mainly related to level of service which covered concerns by 
parents on how a school dealt with a particular issue or parents 
disputing exclusion of their child. Of the complaints received 13 were 
upheld and 5 being partially upheld. 
 

5. Complaints responded to within timescale was slightly down from 
97% in 2015/16 to 72% in 2016/17, which could have been attributed 
to the structure changes during the year. 
 

6. Member enquiries decreased slightly from 54 in 2015/16 to 49 in 
2016/17 with 84% being responded to within timescale, compared to 
93% in 2015/16. 
 

7. Email is the preferred method of contact, although this has dropped 
from last year.  The use of online forms has increased slightly from 2 
in 2015/16 to 3 in 2016/17. 
 

8. Compliments have decreased from 23 in 2015/16 to 16 in 2016/17.  
Examples of some compliments are provided in Appendix 1. The 
Complaints & Information Team will need to remind and encourage 
staff in the Service to send compliments to the team for recording. 
 

Page 7



Children & Learning Overview & Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee, 28 November 2017 

 

8M 

 

9. Education Services continue to use complaints as a feedback 
resource for learning and the collection of complaints data relating to 
schools is to be encouraged to identify particular themes arising 
within schools. Structure changes have had an impact on response 
times, however as the Service stabilises this should see a return to 
the high response rates seen in previous years.   

 
The Sub-Committee noted the report. 
 
 

51 HIGH NEEDS REVIEW AND STRATEGY  
 
The Sub-Committee received a briefing on the High Needs Strategy from 
the Head of Adult and Children’s Disabilities. 
 
It was stated that following the government’s review of high needs funding 
and the consultation on the new national funding formula, it was considered 
that a review of how the high needs budget was allocated be undertaken, 
which also led to a re-drafted the Strategy.  
 
The report informed the Sub-Committee that the revised strategy sets out 
the proposals for the additional capital and allocated High Needs block 
funding budget from central government, as well as proposals to improve 
the processes and services we already deliver. 
 
The Sub-Committee noted that Local Authorities were required to refresh 
their Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) Strategy to ensure 
that it was up to date and reflected current and predicted trends. That the 
strategy should also provide clarity on how, and where, different levels of 
needs would be met and where the current and future gaps in provision 
were identified. 
 
The Sub-Committee was informed that in refreshing the strategy, the 
service sought the involvement of early years providers, schools, post-16 
institutions, local authority and health staff, as well as children, young 
people and parents to ensure that the range and quality of provision 
reflected the needs and aspirations of children and young people in the 
area.  
 
The Sub-Committee noted the following emerging priorities for provision for 
Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) and those requiring 
alternative provision were: 
 

 To establish a bursary scheme for early years’ providers, schools and 
post-16 providers to adapt their environment to make their school/ 
provision more inclusive 

 To increase the Inclusion Fund budget for early years 

 To increase the hourly rate for top up payments to schools for pupils 
with Education Health and Care Plans (EHCP) to £14.  

Page 8



Children & Learning Overview & Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee, 28 November 2017 

 

9M 

 

 To work closely with schools to reduce the number of exclusions, 
particularly amongst pupils with EHCPs, alongside monitoring the 
quality of alternative provision 

 To allocate a small budget for pupils with high medical needs, but 
who do not have an EHCP 

 To set a target of developing two new Additionally Resourced 
Provisions (ARP) per year 

 To develop the new free school for children and young people with 
complex Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD) and SEMH (Social, 
Emotional and Mental Health difficulties), for pupils aged from 3 – 16 
years 

 To review the designation of special schools, particularly in light of 
the new free school to ensure all special schools complement each 
other to meet the range of local need 

 To re-draft the funding matrix for special schools to improve the 
appropriateness of funding levels linked to complexity of need 

 To improve and increase the offer for pathways to adulthood and 
support young people and parents to be aspirational and realistic 

 To ensure social care support complements the educational offer 
locally to support children and young people to meet their outcomes 

 To work more closely with the CCG to align priorities and help 
children and young people to remain in borough, with the right 
support 

 To invest in workforce training to ensure staff across all schools and 
settings (early years and post-16) feel confident in supporting 
children and young people with additional needs to achieve. 

 

The Head of Adult and Children’s Disabilities informed the Sub-Committee 
that a draft strategy would be produced in November for further consultation 
with stakeholders. It was suggested that the Sub-Committee receives the 
report at a future meeting. 
 
The Sub-Committee noted the briefing report. 
 
 

52 HAVERING SCHOOL RESULTS  
 
The Acting Assistant Director for Education Services briefed the Sub-
Committee on the key areas of performance in each of the key stages of 
education statistics as at 31 October 2017.   
 
The report detailed that in the Early Years Foundation Stage (pupils aged 
5), children in Havering had a strong start in their education, with the 
percentage of children improving and reaching a Good Level of 
Development (GLD) in the Early Years Foundation Stage Profile exceeding 
the number found nationally again in 2017.  Havering ranked 52/152 of all 
local authorities, and 6th amongst our statistical neighbours.  The EYFS 
measure has been unchanged since 2013 during which Havering attainment 
had improved consistently. 

Page 9



Children & Learning Overview & Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee, 28 November 2017 

 

10M 

 

 
The Key Stage 1 performance indicated that pupils performed well in their 
Reading, Writing and Mathematics assessments.  Havering had improved 
consistently and was in the second quartile across all subjects, and fifth 
amongst statistical neighbours.  However, the ranking dropped against 
London due to a faster improvement rate.    
 
The data for Key Stage 2 for pupils aged 11 attainments in Reading, 
Writing, Mathematics and English spelling, punctuation and grammar tests 
indicated an excellent performance. 
 
Alongside the attainment of pupils, the government also measures the 
progress they have made from their starting point (their last statutory 
assessment in the previous Key Stage).  Havering has been steadily 
improving the progress pupils make through those years and our ranking 
accordingly.   

 
In 2016 the rating was calculated entirely differently and was expressed as 
a point score above or below the calculation of the cumulative expected 
progress of the cohort (the national average will always be represented as 
0.0). 
 
The figure for 2017 were not available as yet for comparators on the 
measure, but Havering’s scores were positive, which indicated added value 
as pupils move through primary education.  The Sub-Committee was 
informed that it was likely that with the increased progress scores the 
rankings would be affected positively.  
 
At GCSE level Key Stage 4 (students aged 16), with the introduction of 
Attainment 8 and Progress 8, the changes to the calculation recorded an 
headline drop in figures  nationally, however, Havering scores fell less than 
others and as such the ranking improved against all benchmarking groups. 
 
In 2016, this first year of the Progress 8 measure, Havering performed 
poorly against all benchmarking groups, however in In 2017, as a result of 
concerted improvement activity, Havering’s score had improved, bringing 
progress in line with state-funded schools nationally, with ranking against all 
groups improving significantly. 
 
The Sub-Committee was informed that at Key Stage 5 (A Level) the results 
outlined were state-funded Sixth forms but excluded Further Education 
Colleges.  There were six academy 6th forms in Havering. In 2016, the point 
score attributed to the A*-E grades were reduced by a factor of 7 (C grade – 
30pts previously 210pts). 
 
The report detailed that the Average Points Score (APS) per entry increased 
nationally by 0.2pts, whereas Havering and its statistical neighbours 
decreased -0.7pts and -1.5pts respectively, however it had no impact on the 
ranking compared to last year. 
 

Page 10



Children & Learning Overview & Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee, 28 November 2017 

 

11M 

 

The APS for students best 3 A-levels decreased by 0.9pts. Havering’s 
ranking against all benchmark groups therefore decreased, placing 
Havering in the 4th quintile (below national). 

 
The report informed the Sub-Committee that from 2016 the government 
changed how it measured outcomes for disadvantaged pupils.  The current 
measure ‘diminishing the difference’ compares disadvantaged pupils with 
national non-disadvantaged pupils.  
 
In 2017, the Key Stage 2 performance of Havering's disadvantaged pupils 
achieving the expected standard at reading, writing, and mathematics was 
58% against 47% national improving 6%pts on last year. Benchmark 
ranking are not yet available. 
 
The Key Stage Progress 8 performance for disadvantaged pupils had a 
negative progress score, which was below the national average.  In 2017, 
progress score remains negative but has improved. Benchmark ranking are 
not yet available. 
 
Attainment 8 points for Havering’s disadvantaged pupils declined from 41.3 
to 38.1 in 2017 but the drop was attributed to grades changed. 
 
The report outlined that disadvantaged pupils English Baccalaureate 
(Ebacc) entries remain broadly static, however the percentage achieving 
Ebacc increased 2%pts to 14% and an increase of 4%pts of disadvantaged 
pupils achieving the basics. 
 
Havering performed in the top quintile for both Not in Education, 
Employment, or Training (NEET) and participation, performing significantly 
better that the England averages.  The numbers of young people 
participating in education and training was 94.4%, compared to 92.1% 
nationally. The number of young people in apprenticeships in Havering was 
9.2%, compared to the national average of 6.4%. 
 
The Sub-Committee was informed that Ofsted measured performance 
based on providers being judged as either Good or Outstanding, the 
remaining judgements being ‘Requires improvement’ and ‘Inadequate’ with 
the additional descriptor of ‘serious weaknesses’ or special measures.  
Historically the main focus was ‘percentage of providers judged to be good 
or better’, in recent years this focus has changed to ‘percentage of pupils in 
a good or better school’. 
 
In line with the Government’s initial intention of enforced academisation,  
‘failing’ schools that became sponsor-led were classified as new 
establishments, and exempted from inspection for a minimum of 3 years 
and were not included in Ofsted calculations.  It had led to a period of 
sustained national improvement of schools being Good or Better increasing 
from 69% in 2012 to 89% in 2017. 
 

Page 11



Children & Learning Overview & Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee, 28 November 2017 

 

12M 

 

The Sub-Committee noted that Havering secondary sector had improved in 
2017 and in primary, and now in line with national and statistical neighbours.  
The new measure mirrors the position though in primary sector the 
percentage of pupils in a good or better school was above national and the 
rankings for primary have significantly improved in 2017. 

 
The Sub-Committee was informed that as part of the next steps, the service 
would continue to monitor the performance of all schools on a regular basis 
with a refreshed approach to bringing about necessary improvements.  
 
The monitoring would include forensic evaluation of progress through 
monthly performance review meetings in those schools identified as being 
under-performing and a greater use of the powers available to the authority 
where schools are a cause for concern. 

 
The Sub-Committee noted the update report on school improvement. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Chairman 
 

 

Page 12



 

1 
 

 

UPDATE FOR THE CHILDREN’S OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINNY COMMITTEE ON  

THE OLIVE AP ACADEMY- HAVERING 

 

1. Background  

 

Olive Academies is a multi-academy trust, approved by the Department for Education. Established in 
2013, it is one of the first academy sponsors specialising in alternative provision in England.  

The academy trust opened its first AP academy in Thurrock in 2015 and its third Olive AP academy 
opened in central Suffolk in June 2017. The Olive AP Academy - Havering opened on 1 September 2016 
after having been in special measures for a considerable time as the predecessor organisation Manor 
Green College. The Academy is based at the previous Key Stage 3 site on Inskip Drive, Hornchurch, and 
the site is shared with the Youth Service. It provides full-time provision for 64 Key Stage 3 and 4 pupils, 
many of whom have been permanently excluded from their mainstream school in Havering. The 
academy conversion has also provided a unique opportunity to shape the new provision in line with 
current education thinking so that Havering schools receive the support they want. The partnership 
which has formed with Havering Borough council is pivotal to the success of the project. 

2. Principles 

Social, emotional and mental health (SEMH) needs in young people within Havering have been identified 
by headteachers and the local authority (LA) as a key barrier to learning and progress within the 
mainstream curriculum offer. As a result, students with SEMH needs feature all too often, and 
disproportionally, in school fixed-term and permanent exclusions data. Additionally, it is often the case 
that few pupils are successfully reintegrated back into mainstream schools after spending too long in 
pupil referral units in England. Too many pupils who are permanently excluded in England for ‘one-off’ 
incidents go on to stay in PRUs or APs for the remainder of their secondary school education. The mix of 
these pupils with pupils who require specific support for their complex needs is rarely successful.  

The Olive AP Academy - Havering vision is driven by our fundamental belief that young people with 
SEMH can, and should, succeed in line with their peers. We believe that there is a better and more 
successful way to educate young people, for whom traditional approaches to education have not 
worked. The Olive AP Academy Havering is developing into a collaborative and inclusive learning 
community which is building academic, social and emotional capital in young people, thereby 
encouraging in them the character, creativity and resilience required in the globalised economy. Schools 
indicate that they want a Key Stage 4 provision which provides the highest levels of education provision 
possible to prepare the students for a range of college and work-based options at the end of year 11. 
Our key aim for KS4 therefore is to prepare those students to be successful in the 21st century world. It 
is our ambition that a student should not need to be permanently excluded to be in receipt of a 
curriculum offer appropriate to meet their needs, so students may attend the academy on a full-time or 
part-time basis (dual roll) in order to maximise the appropriate educational opportunities for the 
student. This might include a Service Learning or Vocational/Expeditionary Learning option to 
complement the more traditional curriculum offer at school. The pathway for the student would be 
agreed with the student, their family and their home school. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



 

2 
 

At Key Stage 3, our aim is to work with students in preventative and proactive ways, which maintain 

them in their home school as far as possible. We want to work with mainstream schools to genuinely 

prevent permanent exclusions. This offer will include: 

 outreach work from Olive AP academy that will also help develop further capacity in mainstream 

schools. 

 Short-term intervention (for 1 or 2 terms) on a part or full-time basis, with a full reintegration 

process as part of this package  

 

3. Work completed so far at the academy 

Olive Academies has embarked on an ambitious programme to improve the quality of provision at the 
academy for all its pupils. This has included completing a full staffing restructure during the 2016/17 
academic year to rationalise and improve the quality of staffing, thereby allowing the academy to be in 
the position to be able to make rapid and sustainable improvement. The academy benefitted 
immediately from this approach with the appointment of an Assistant Headteacher to work also at the 
Olive AP Academy - Thurrock to lead developments in SEND provision at both academies. The 
appointment of a high-quality English teacher from a local Havering school is starting to have an impact 
on standards. The current team of associate staff is of very high quality, and the trust is in the process of 
recruiting a new headteacher and deputy headteacher with interviews scheduled for the end of 
February. The trust has also been working to improve the quality of provision for all pupils. This is being 
achieved through the high expectations of the trust that all staff at the academy provide the very best 
learning opportunities at all times. This work includes trust and academy-wide professional 
development opportunities which have included all staff attending full trust INSET days. Ongoing 
individual support is provided to staff by the trust’s school improvement team. This work has included 
individual coaching of teachers and leaders. Three teachers are currently placed on support plans to 
improve their performance as part of the trust’s performance management processes.  

The safeguarding of pupils is the trust’s highest priority. Since its opening in September 2016, the 
academy has had five audits which have been completed by the local authority, trust safeguarding lead 
and trust board safeguarding lead to ensure that all areas of the academy’s practice meet the high 
expectation of the trust. The work this year has included the installation of a perimeter fence and 
implementation of CPOMS and Evolve systems. 

The trust has also prioritised the importance of shaping the new provision for the academy in line with 
current education thinking so that Havering schools receive the support they want. Local headteachers 
are fully engaged with this process on behalf of all Havering schools. 

The analysis of 2017 performance shows that the academy is starting to address the historical 
underperformance of Manor Green College. The trust has the highest expectations for its pupils as we 
work to ensure that all pupils make outstanding progress in all aspects of their educational experience.  
The initial analysis compares favourably with alternative provision centres. However, we are determined 
to move beyond these comparisons so that we are measured against all mainstream schools in the 
future, once the academy is funded at a more appropriate level to be able to do so. 
 

A Performance against national benchmarks 

 
Students at Olive AP Academy Havering are performing significantly better than AP Centres in the local 
area and nationwide.  Not only is their progress significantly higher, attainment is very significantly 
higher. 

The key progress 8 measure demonstrates a significant difference of more than one grade better than 
the national AP averages.   

Page 14



 

3 
 

Attainment rates for English and Maths are very significantly higher than national averages. In 
mathematics, this figure increased in 2017 due to the Trust’s view that all students should be given the 
chance to take GCSE subjects  

While the English pass grade fell in 2017, the sample size is such that the difference between the 2016 
figure and the 2017 figure is only one student. 

 Key Performance Measures 2017 (2016 in brackets) 

 Progress 8 
Entered for English 

and maths 
English Pass Maths Pass 

Olive AP Academy 
Havering 

-1.8 (-2.8) 93% 83% (96%) 91% (40%) 

Havering  -2.7 (x) 37.5% 
 

London -3.2 (-3.2) 32.1% 

National Averages -3.1 (-3.3) 40.1% 51% 41% 
*Data taken from 2017 AND 2016 statistical releases 

The academy has had a number of successes with working with individual pupils to help them to re-
engage with their education. These successes have included a significant number of pupils improving 
their attendance when compared to their mainstream school. Many by at least 10%, and some by as 
much as 64%. 

The academy continues to work hard to support pupils who are seen as being at risk of permanent 
exclusion by their mainstream school or who have already been permanently excluded. Many of these 
pupils are assessed as being ready for a ‘fresh start’ in a new mainstream school after a period of time at 
the academy. These pupils have formed the intervention group at the academy. The data for the current 
academic year is encouraging; 

 Total number of 
students in group 

Numbers of students 
successfully 

 re-integrated back 
to original school 

Number of students  
successfully  

moving onto a new school through 
IYFAP 

Aut 1 8 5 3 

Aut 2 4 3 1 

Spr 1 5 2 3 
 

4. Governance at the academy 

 

The Olive Academies MAT board and its subcommittees deliver strong governance to all of its 

academies, each of which has an academy advisory board (AAB) providing crucial community 

knowledge, advice and support. The trust works hard to promote the link between its academies 

and the local mainstream schools and is committed to securing their representation on each 

advisory board. The Olive AP Academy - Havering is currently lead by an independent Chair 

(Penny Johnson) who is a successful Headteacher of a secondary school in Thurrock. Three 

Havering schools are represented on the board (Drapers Academy, Abbs Cross Academy and the 

Albany School) by three senior leaders. The group monitors and supports the work of the 

academy on a half-termly basis.  

The Academy Trust monitors the work of each of its academies through its two subcommittees 

(‘Education Performance and Standards’ and ‘Finance and Audit’) who meet quarterly to review 

progress. 

 

 
Page 15



 

4 
 

5. Partnership working with the London Borough of Havering 

The trust works hard to develop strong partnerships with each of the three local authorities it 

works with. The work of the academy is commissioned through a service level agreement and is 

monitored through two annual reviews, which are carried out by a current school inspector. The 

trust invites a local authority representative to join these reviews. The next review of the 

Havering academy with Susan Sutton, led by James Waite is scheduled for 12 and 13 March. 

 

6. Future plans 
 
A building project to improve the quality of the site has been agreed. It is due to start on 1 April 
and be completed by the end of 2018. Improving the quality of the building represents an 
opportunity to embed our ambitious vision for the academy, and the trust is grateful for the 
support of the council in providing the funding. 

 

Mark Vickers 

CEO 

Olive Academies 

14th February 2018 

Page 16



 

CHILDREN AND LEARNING OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 
27 FEBRUARY 2018 

 
 
 

Subject Heading:  
 

Havering In Year Fair Access Protocol 
 

SLT Lead:  
 

Tim Aldridge, Director of Children’s 
Services 
 

Report Author and contact details: 
 

Trevor Cook, Assistant Director for 
Education Services 
Tel: 01708 431250 
Trevor.cook@havering.gov.uk 
 

Policy context: 
 

School Admissions 
 

 

 
SUMMARY 

 
 
Consistent with Havering’s vision to ensure a good start for every child to reach 
their full potential, this report updates members of the Committee on progress to 
improve fair access admissions arrangements across Havering’s schools. 
 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
 
It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee note the content of 
the report, and they continue to receive updates on school fair access admissions. 
 
 
 

REPORT DETAIL 
 

 
 

1. The School Admissions Code requires each local authority to have in place 
a Fair Access Protocol which all local schools/academies must adhere to.  

2. Section 3.11 of the School Admission Code states “All admission authorities 
must participate in the Fair Access Protocol in order to ensure that 
unplaced children are allocated a school place quickly.  There is no duty for 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



 
 
 

 

local authorities or admission authorities to comply with parental preference 
when allocating places through the Fair Access Protocol”. 

3. Reintegration or transition support for students placed via the In Year Fair 
Access Protocol (IYFAP) process is available to assist the successful 
reintegration of students back into school.  Access to this support is agreed 
via the IYFAP process to enable more effective transition and re integration 
for students who would be difficult to place without additional specialist 
support. 

4. The IYFAP protocol reflects the Local Authorities responsibility for 
safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children and young people as 
well as attempting to ensure an educational attainment and achievement. 

5. All Havering Head teachers and governing bodies have agreed to the aims, 
principals and procedures of the IYFAP. 

6. The aims of the In Year Fair Access Protocol are to; 

 Acknowledge the real needs of vulnerable young people who are not on 
the roll of a school and to ensure that an appropriate placement is 
identified quickly and pupils/young people are on roll within 10 school 
days of the panel; 

 Seek to find an alternative placement or support for those on roll of a 
school where it can be demonstrated that they are at risk of permanent 
exclusion;   

 Fairly share the admission of vulnerable students across all 
schools/academies (where the panel agree that another mainstream 
school place should be identified); 

 Arrange such admissions openly through a process which has the 
confidence of all; 

 Record the progress and successes of the young people placed through 
this panel. 

 

The decision-making process and role of Pre Panel 

7. Cases are brought to the pre panel by the Vulnerable Children’s Coordinator 
who collates parent and school information to support each referral.  A Pre 
panel is made up of the Admissions and Inclusions Manager, two head 
teachers, Vulnerable Children’s Co-ordinator, Youth Offending officer, 
Behaviour Support officers, CHAMS, Police, SEN, and the Alternative 
Provisions Manager.   

8. The Pre Panel meets on a monthly basis to discuss each of the pupils in 
detail. Before recommendations are made, the Pre-Panel takes into 
consideration the following factors: 

 The number of vacancies at each school/academy in each year group; 

 The total number of pupils/young people that have been admitted to 
each school/academy in each year group through the IYFAP process in 
the last academic year; 

Page 18



 
 
 

 

 The number of schools/academies (if any) that have failed to admit; 

 Any relevant data on special educational needs 

 Background information on pupil/young person, provided by the previous 
school and other relevant agencies with knowledge of the pupil.  This 
would include any known risks in relation to the pupil, such as risk of 
sexual exploitation, use of drugs, anti-social behaviour etc.  

9. Before a final decision is recommended, the Pre-panel also takes into 
account:  

 the School Admissions Code;  

 the number of pupils/young people admitted through the IYFAP process 
in the current academic year; 

 the number of pupils/young people admitted through the SEND  process 
in the current year. 

 the needs of the pupil/young person, where this is known; 

 any reasons why the school/academy may not be able to respond to the 
needs of the pupil/young person; 

 the individual context of a school/academy in relation to recently 
excluded pupil/young people and measures taken to prevent exclusion of 
pupils/young people already at a school/academy; 

 additional considerations may include the location from pupils/young 
people home, subject aspirations, gender, religion & culture and siblings 
within the school/academy; 

 the individual context of a school/academy in relation to requests for an 
education, health and care plan. 

 a pupil/young person will not be referred to a school/academy that is 
placed in an Ofsted Category, unless under exceptional circumstances. 

 

The Main IYFAP Panel 

10. This panel meets a week after the Pre Panel and consists of the primary 
Head teachers / secondary Head teachers or their nominated assistants, 
along with the Vulnerable Children’s Co-ordinator, Admissions and 
Inclusions Manager, Attendance Manager.  This panel is chaired by a senior 
Local Authority Manager.  

 

Number of Cases Referred 

11. The number of referrals has risen steadily since the introduction of IYFAP in 
2014, and below is a summary of the number of cases referred; 

 

2014/2015  287  

2015/2016  351  

Page 19



 
 
 

 

2016/2017  401  

2017/2018    294 (to January 2018) 

 

Social Inclusion Funding 

12. The Social Inclusion Funding is in place so that schools and academies can 
apply for “top up” funding towards the costs of approved learning 
support/pastoral support, and/or alternative provision, for students who are 
at risk of permanent exclusion.  

13. Where an alternative educational placement is determined most suitable to 
meet the needs of a pupil/young person, this provision is identified in 
principle, and ratified by the panel. 

14. Decisions are reached by consensus, whenever possible, with the chair 
mandated to take action where this has not proved possible. 

 

15. The categories for pupils who require additional support include;  

1. Y11 Students who move into the borough who are hard to place. 

2. All age students as listed below who are at risk of permanent 
exclusion and who would benefit from an intervention. This can be 
through part / full time alternative educational provision or learning 
support/pastoral support. This is to enable pupils to complete their 
statutory education particularly if all other interventions have failed. 

a. At risk early intervention required 

b. At risk of exclusion  

c. School refuser 

d. Medical with no CAHMS 

e. Complex needs with no EHCP 

3. Reintegration support. 

 

Financial Support Guidelines for SIF (Social Inclusion Fund) 

16. Students as listed above who are at risk of exclusion, may be placed in 
alternative provision by the school or AP Commissioner, or may be provided 
with additional learning support or pastoral support.  Support may follow, or 
be part of a school transfer.  All cases are ratified through IYFAP, and only 
those cases that meet the criteria will be allocated funding.  For example, a 
student is at risk of permanent exclusion and all reasonable interventions to 
improve behaviour have been taken and have failed.  

17. Provision for ‘hard to place’ Y11 students are likely to be through the AP 
Census, or placement in schools which are ratified through the IYFAP 
Process.  

Page 20



 
 
 

 

a. The costs of placements (up to 20 places) through the AP Census to be 
met from the Y11 Late Arrivals Budget, as previously agreed with the 
Funding forum.  

b. Schools admitting a student through IYFAP to be supported through the 
allocation of funding for the remainder of the current school year based 
on the KS AWPU and the number of weeks until the end of the academic 
year or the date on which the student would normally be expected to 
leave the school. The leaving date for KS4 is the last Friday in June. 

 

18. Alternative Provision for pupils unable to return to mainstream school are 
known as AP Census pupils, and are managed as a school by the 
Admissions and Inclusion team. 

19. Provision for ‘hard to place’ Y11 students may be through the AP Census or 
placement in schools which are ratified through the IYFAP Process.  

a. The costs of placements (up to 20 places) through the AP Census to be 
met from the Y11 Late Arrivals Budget, as previously agreed with the 
Funding forum.  

b. Schools admitting a student through IYFAP to be supported through the 
allocation of funding for the remainder of the current school year based 
on the KS AWPU and the number of weeks until the end of the academic 
year or the date on which the student would normally be expected to 
leave the school. The leaving date for KS4 is the last Friday in June. 

 

Social Inclusion Funding/Schools Alternative Provisions & Referrals 

20. The number of referrals has also risen steadily since the introduction of SIF 
in 2015, and below is a summary of the number of cases referred; 

2015/2016  - £129,361.99 = 86 referrals 

2016/2017  - £244,467.36 = 135 referrals 

2017/2018  -  £337,498.34 (April 2017 - January2018) = 108 referrals 

 

Social Inclusion Funding / AP Census  

21. AP Census started in September 2016, and the first term for 2017 saw a 
small number of pupils being placed, with the Autumn & Spring terms being 
lower than expected.  However, 2017/2018 started with a total of 18 pupils 
which has resulted in the budget actuals increasing significantly. 

2016/2017 – £69,317.58 = 28 pupils referred 

2017/2018 – £164,858.44 (April 2017-January 2018) = 23 pupils 
referred 

 

 

Next steps 

Page 21



 
 
 

 

22. The authority continues to monitor the admissions arrangements of all 
schools on a regular basis. This includes evaluation of referral data and a 
greater use of the powers available to the authority where schools are a 
cause for concern. 

 
 
 

  IMPLICATIONS AND RISKS 
 
 
Financial implications and risks: 
 
None arising directly as a result of this report. 
 
Legal implications and risks: 
 
It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee notes the content of 
the Report and notes that further reports will be presented. 
 
Human Resources implications and risks: 
 
The recommendations made in this report do not give rise to any identifiable HR 
risks or implications that would affect either the Council or its workforce. 
 
Equalities implications and risks: 
 
As a public authority the Council is required to comply with the general duty as set 
out in the Equality Act .This states that those subject to the general equality duty 
must have due regard to the need to:  

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation  

 Advance equality of opportunity between different groups  

 Foster good relations between different groups.  

 
The Act explains that having due regard for advancing equality involves:  

 Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristics.  

 Taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these 
are different from the needs of other people.  

 Encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other 
activities where their participation is disproportionately low. 

 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

 
None 

 

Page 22



 
 
 

    CHILDREN AND LEARNING OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
SUB-COMMITTEE, 27 FEBRUARY 2018 

 
Subject Heading: 
 

Quarter 3 performance information 

SLT Lead: 
 

Jane West (Chief Operating Officer) 
 

Report Author and contact details: 
 
 

Amy Pickford, Performance and Business 
Intelligence Analyst (x1244) 

Policy context: 
 
 

The report sets out Quarter 3 performance 
relevant to the Children and Learning 
Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee 
 

Financial summary: 
 
 

There are no direct financial implications 
arising from this report.  However adverse 
performance against some indicators may 
have financial implications for the Council. 
 
All service directorates are required to 
achieve their performance targets within 
approved budgets.  The Senior 
Leadership Team (SLT) is actively 
monitoring and managing resources to 
remain within budgets, although several 
service areas (including Children’s 
Services) continue to experience financial 
pressure from demand led services. 

 

The subject matter of this report deals with the following Council 
Objectives 

 
Communities making Havering       [X] 
Places making Havering         [] 
Opportunities making Havering        [X] 
Connections making Havering       []      
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



 
 
 

 

 
SUMMARY 

 
 
This report supplements the presentation attached as Appendix 1, which sets out 
the Council’s performance within the remit of the Children and Learning Overview 
and Scrutiny Sub-Committee for Quarter 3 (October 2017- December 2017). 
 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION  
 
 
 
That the Children and Learning Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee notes the 
contents of the report and presentation and makes any recommendations as 
appropriate. 
 
 
 

REPORT DETAIL 
 
 

1. The report and attached presentation provide an overview of the Council’s 
performance against the performance indicators selected for review by the 
Children and Learning Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee.  The 
presentation highlights areas of strong performance and potential areas for 
improvement. 

 
2. The report and presentation identify where the Council is performing well 

(Green) and not so well (Red).  The ratings for the 2017/18 reports are as 
follows: 

 
 Red = off the quarterly target  
 Green = on or better than the quarterly target 

 
3. Where performance is off the quarterly target and the rating is ‘Red’, 

‘Improvements required’ are noted in the presentation. This highlights what 
action the Council will take to address poor performance. 

 
4. Also included in the presentation are Direction of Travel (DoT) columns, 

which compare: 
 

 Short-term performance – with the previous quarter (Quarter 2 2017/18) 
 Long-term performance – with the same time the previous year (Quarter 3 

2016/17) 

 
5. A green arrow () means performance is better and a red arrow () means 

performance is worse. An amber arrow () means that performance has 
remained the same. 

Page 24



 
 
 

 

 
6. In total, 17 Performance Indicators have been included in the Quarter 3 

2017/18 report and presentation.  Performance data is available for 15 of the 
17 indicators. 

 
 

Quarter 3 ratings summary 
 
 

 

  
 

In summary, of the 15 indicators: 
 
 8 (53%) have a status of Green 
 7 (47%) have a status of Red 
 

This is an improvement on the position at the end of Quarter 2, when 43% of 
indicators were rated Green and 57% were rated Red. 

 
7. Performance against three of the 15 indicators (the total number of in-house 

foster carers, the percentage of looked after children placed in in-house 
foster care, and the percentage of young people leaving care who are in 
education, employment or training at ages 18-21) will be reported to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Board.  Performance against two of these indicators 
has been rated Red for Quarter 3.  The percentage of LAC placed in in-
house foster care is rated Green. 

 
 

 
  IMPLICATIONS AND RISKS 

 
 
 
Financial implications and risks:  
 
There are no financial implications arising directly from this report.  However 
adverse performance against some Performance Indicators may have financial 
implications for the Council. 

7 
8 

Red

Green

Page 25



 
 
 

 

 
All service directorates are required to achieve their performance targets within 
approved budgets.  The Senior Leadership Team (SLT) is actively monitoring and 
managing resources to remain within budgets, although several service areas 
continue to experience significant financial pressures in relation to a number of 
demand led services such as children’s social care.  SLT officers are focused upon 
controlling expenditure within approved directorate budgets and within the total 
General Fund budget through delivery of existing savings plans and mitigation 
plans to address new pressures that are arising within the year. 
 
Further information on the financial performance of the Council has been reported 
as part of the Medium term Financial Strategy (MTFS) report to the Cabinet in 
February. 
 
Legal implications and risks: 
 
Whilst reporting on performance is not a statutory requirement, it is considered 
best practice to review the Council’s progress regularly. 
 
Human Resources implications and risks:  
 
There are no HR implications or risks arising from this report. 
 
Equalities implications and risks: 
 
Equality and social cohesion implications could potentially arise if performance 
against the following indicators currently rated as Red does not improve: 
 

 Number of early years education offers extended to disadvantaged two year 
olds 

 Percentage of young people leaving care who are in education, employment 
or training at ages 18 – 21 

 Percentage of children who wait less than 14 months between entering care 
and moving in with their adopting family 

 Total number of in-house foster carers 

 Percentage of children in Good or Outstanding schools 

 Percentage of care proceedings completed in under 26 weeks 
 
The attached presentation provides further detail on steps that will be taken to 
improve performance and mitigate these potential inequalities. 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

 
Appendix 1: Quarter 3 Children and Learning Performance Presentation 2017/18  
 

Page 26



P
age 27



Quarter 3 – Corporate Performance Report 2017/18

Children and Learning O&S Committee

27 February 2018

P
age 28



About the Children and Learning O&S Committee 
Performance Report

• Overview of the key performance indicators as selected by the Children 
and Learning Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee

• The report identifies where the Council is performing well (Green) and 
not so well (Red). 

• Where the RAG rating is ‘Red’, ‘Corrective Action’ is included. This 
highlights what action the Council will take to address poor performance. 

P
age 29



OVERVIEW OF CHILDREN AND LEARNING INDICATORS 

• 17 Performance Indicators are reported to the Children and Learning Overview 
and Scrutiny Sub‐Committee. 

• Performance data is available for 15 of the 17 indicators.

Quarter 3 Summary

In summary, of the 15 indicators:
8 (53%) have a status of Green
7 (47%) have a status of Red

7
8

Red

Green

P
age 30



Quarter 3 Performance

No. of early years education offers 
extended to disadvantaged 2 year olds

Bigger is 
better 841 841

611
(Autumn Term)

RED
 588  787

% of young people leaving care who are 
in education, employment or training at 

ages 18 ‐21

Bigger is 
better 75% 75% 57.6%

RED  60.3%  59.8%

% of children who wait less than 14 
months between entering care and 
moving in with their adopting family

Bigger is 
better 75% 75% 58%

RED  60%  54%

% of looked after children placements 
lasting at least 2 years

Bigger is 
better 70% 70% 59.7%

RED  59%  64.5%

Total no. of in‐house foster carers Bigger is 
better 90 90 77

RED  77  74

Indicator and Description Value 2017/18 
Annual Target

2017/18 Q3 
Target

2017/18 Q3 
Performance

Short Term DOT against
Q2 2017/18

Long Term DOT against
Q3 2016/17

P
age 31



Quarter 3 Performance

Indicator and Description Value 2017/18 
Annual Target

2017/18 Q3 
Target

2017/18 Q3 
Performance

Short Term DOT against
Q2 2017/18

Long Term DOT against
Q3 2016/17

% of children in Good or Outstanding 
schools

Bigger is 
better 83% 83% 81%

RED  84%  80%

% of looked after children who leave care 
at 18 and remain living with their foster 

carers (“Staying Put”)

Bigger is 
better 70% 70% 75%

GREEN  50%  66.7%

% of looked after children placed in LBH 
foster care

Bigger is 
better 40% 40% 41.5%

GREEN  39.7%  36.8%

% of children becoming the subject of a 
Child Protection Plan for a second or 

subsequent time within 2 years

Smaller is 
better 10% 10% 8.1%

GREEN  8.9%  12.4%

% of looked after children who ceased to 
be LAC as a result of permanency 
(adoption and special guardianship)

Bigger is 
better 20% 20% 26.7%

GREEN  21.3%  15.9%

P
age 32



Quarter 3 Performance

Indicator and Description Value 2017/18 
Annual Target

2017/18 Q3 
Target

2017/18 Q3 
Performance

Short Term DOT against
Q2 2017/18

Long Term DOT against
Q3 2016/17

% of Early Years providers judged Good 
or Outstanding by Ofsted

Bigger is 
better 80% 80% 97%

GREEN  97%  83%

No. of new in‐house foster carers Bigger is 
better 20 10 14

GREEN  11  4

% of families who showed continued 
overall progress after their initial 
assessment (engagement PI)

Bigger is 
better 50% 50% 67%

GREEN ‐ NEW ‐ NEW

% of 16‐18 year olds who are not in 
education, employment or training or 

not known

Smaller is 
better 4.3% 4.3%

4.2%
(Provisional)

GREEN
 3.6% ‐ NEW

P
age 33



Quarter 3 Performance

% of care proceedings completed in 
under 26 weeks

Bigger is 
better 80% 80% 17.2%

RED  13.6%  66.7%

No. of apprentices (aged 16‐18) 
recruited in the borough

Bigger is 
better 770 N/A N/A ‐ N/A ‐ N/A

No. of apprentices (aged 19+) recruited 
in the borough

Bigger is 
better 1330 758 N/A ‐ N/A ‐ N/A

Indicator and Description Value 2017/18 
Annual Target

2017/18 Q3 
Target

2017/18 Q3 
Performance

Short Term DOT against
Q2 2017/18

Long Term DOT against
Q3 2016/17

P
age 34



Highlights

‐ So far this year we have seen 24 children cease to be looked after due to the granting of an adoption
order or an SGO, which gives us a year to date outturn of 26.7%. This is a great improvement on our
2016/17 outturn of 14.7%, and comfortably above our 17/18 target. The number of family and friends
placements has increased from 24 to 31 since April 2017.

‐ The percentage of looked after children who leave care at 18 and “Stay Put” with their foster carers
has improved and is now above target.

‐ The percentage of LAC placed in LBH foster care has reached the highest point so far this year and
was above target at the end of Q3. The In‐Care strand of the Face‐to‐Face Pathways Programme is
focusing on enhancing our in‐house resources to ensure that in‐house options are available for all
LAC, whatever their needs are.

‐ We continue to see a steady reduction in the proportion of children becoming the subject of a CPP for
a second or subsequent time within 2 years

‐ The proportion of families showing continued overall progress after their initial assessment is
significantly better than target

P
age 35



Improvements Required 

‐ As at the end of December, there were 80/139 (57.6%) of our care leavers aged 18‐21 years old in education, 
employment or training. Whilst this is lower than our target, Havering is surpassing the national average and many 
other London boroughs. The Council has been awarded funding from the DWP to set up a Work Club at The Cocoon. 
An application has also been made to the DWP Community Budget to enable us to deliver a programme aimed at 
supporting young people to attain employment and/or embark on further education. 

‐ Whilst we have seen a positive increase in the number of new foster carers and the percentage of LAC placed with 
in‐house carers, the total number of in‐house carers in our cohort has not changed significantly. 

‐ The proportion of Care Proceedings completed in under 26 weeks remains significantly below target, albeit 
improved on Quarter 2.  LBH has had 4 long‐running case which have gone beyond 50 weeks.  These cases will 
significantly skew LBH`s average case duration not only for this quarter but also for the whole year 2017‐2018. 
Cases are tracked from the  pre‐proceeding stage where a child is assessed as being at risk of significant 
harm. Updated legal planning and pre‐proceedings review procedures  will be circulated to all social care staff.

‐ The proportion of children attending Good or Outstanding schools is currently slightly below target, but figures are 
expected to improve over the coming months. 

P
age 36



Any questions?

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

    CHILDREN AND LEARNING OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
SUB-COMMITTEE 
27 February 2018 
 
Subject Heading: 
 
 

Regionalisation of adoption 
services in London & the 
Adoption Support Fund 
 

SLT Lead: 
 

Tim Aldridge, Director of Children’s 
Services 

Report Author and contact details: 
 
 

Tendai Dooley Head of Care Resources; 
Show name: 01708 431980 
Tendai.dooley@havering.gov.uk 

Policy context: 
 
 

Development of adoption services in the 
UK in light of the governments legislation. 

 
SUMMARY 

 
 

This report seeks to update Havering’s Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Committee 
about Havering’s involvement in the regionalisation of adoption services in London 
and give an overview of the Adoption Support Fund that is available for all local 
authorities with adoption support services.  

The number of children adopted has fallen in London, and economies of scale are 
needed, as well as an improvement in the consistency of adoption support services 
across London. Adoption performance across London is variable and adoption 
costs can vary from £34,000 to as much as £75,000 per adoption.  

Havering is part of the East London Regional Adoption Agency (RAA) which 
includes Barking and Dagenham; Newham; Waltham Forest and Tower Hamlets. 
As a local authority, Havering has expressed an intention to host the East London 
RAA. Local Authorities within the East Region support this approach. 

This report will set out the current vision and function of the East London RAA and 
will in principle seek approval to pursue the strategy of not only joining but being 
the lead authority. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS  

 
 

1. The Sub-Committee to note in principle that Havering will participate in 
and lead the East London RAA. 

Page 39

Agenda Item 8



 
 
 

 

 
2. A further detailed report to be produced outlining progress, risk and 

expectation to seek formal permission for Havering to lead and 
participate in the East London RAA.         

 
 

REPORT DETAIL 
 
 

Regional Adoption Agencies   
Background 
 

The Government has set the deadline for local authorities joining a RAA by 2020. 
An in principle agreement for Havering to lead the East London RAA will enable 
the business case to be explored further, and allow timely request for the final 
decision to proceed to be made without compromising Havering’s ability to 
discharge statutory duties in relation to adoption.  
 
The government’s focus on the adoption services in the UK viewed the current 
system for children and families as: 
 

• highly fragmented  

• operating at a very small scale  

• unable to make the best use of the national supply of potential adopters 

• more vulnerable to peaks and troughs in the flow of children 

• not cost effective or efficient  

 
 
The Department for Education (DfE) paper, Regionalising Adoption (2015) 
proposed the move to regional adoption agencies. The Vision is to ensure the 
voice of children and adopters is at the heart of policy making and service delivery. 
 
A Regional Adoption Agency being: 
 

 Local authorities adoption services joining together,  

 Voluntary adoption agencies joining local authorities or  

 Potentially adoption services operating outside of local authority control. 

 Regional adoption agencies to be at the forefront of excellent and innovative 

practice, taking the opportunity of setting up a new system to redesign ways 

of working.  

 Regional adoption agencies to deliver all adopter recruitment, matching and 

support function  

The benefits of moving to the RAA  

 

 Speed up matching  

 Improve adopter recruitment and adoption support  

 Access to more potential adopters  

Page 40



 
 
 

 

 Reduce costs / increase efficiencies around savings 

 Improve the life chances of vulnerable children.  

 Reduce risk of post code lottery 

 Offer more resilience to service from the scale or volume 

 

Local improvements  

 Havering can improve performance and practice inconsistencies 

 Improve the strategic management of the service 

 Improve the strategic development of adoption services 

 Create a powerful regional voice for adoption 

 Ensure a culture of excellence in adoption practice 

 

The government has reinforced their policy ambition through provisions in the 
Education and Adoption Bill.   
 
Through the document Adoption: A Vision for Change, the DfE highlighted the 
need to draw on the best of both the statutory and voluntary sectors to ensure that 
systems are designed around the needs of children. It also reinforced the vision to 
ensure that the voice of children and adopters is at the heart of policy making and 
service delivery.  
 
What does this mean for London? 

Following the publication of the DfE’s paper the Department invited councils and 

Voluntary Adoption Agencies to submit Expressions of Interest in becoming part of 

new regionalised arrangements. In response, the Association of London Directors 

of Children’s Services (ALDCS) submitted a London proposition in late 2015. The 

DfE subsequently approved the ALDCS proposition as a “scope and define” 

project. 

The Project at that time represented by the ALDCS consisted of: 

Local Authorities 

Barking & Dagenham, Barnet, Bexley, Brent, Bromley, Camden, City of London, 

Croydon, Ealing, Enfield, Greenwich, Hackney, Hammersmith & Fulham, Haringey, 

Harrow, Havering, Hillingdon, Hounslow, Islington, Kensington & Chelsea, 

Kingston-upon-Thames, Lambeth, Lewisham, Merton, Newham, Redbridge, 

Richmond-upon-Thames, Southwark, Sutton, Tower Hamlets, Waltham Forest, 

Wandsworth, and Westminster. 

 
 
Voluntary Adoption Agencies (VAA) & adoption Support Agencies: 
Action for Children,  

Page 41



 
 
 

 

Adoption Plus  
Barnardo’s 
Coram 
Family Futures 
Intercountry Adoption Centre 
PACT 
PAC-UK  
SSAFA  
TACT 

Other organisations: 

London Councils (hosting project management)  

National Academy for Parenting Research  

Kings College London and National Adoption and Fostering Clinic  

South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (LAB member)  

Adoption UK 

The ALDCS set up and chaired a Regionalisation Project Steering Group that has 
driven the development of the initial recommendations outlined in Project proposal. 
The Regionalisation Steering Group sits under the governance of ALDCS and 
makes operational decisions to drive the project forward. An ALDCS reference 
group (5 DCS members) has also been set up to support the Regionalisation 
Steering Group Chair with ensuring that the views of London as a whole are 
represented at a senior level.  
 
 

In 2016 ALDCS Regionalisation Project Steering Group in conjunction with the 

London adoption Leadership Board put together the Vision for London document 

which looked at: 

The Opportunity for London 
 

 Highlighting a focus on achieving the best outcomes for all London’s 

children in need of an adoptive placement and reducing any current 

postcode lottery of provision across the capital. 

  
Outcome performance for children and adoptive families 
 

 It showed that based on the current outcome performance (2015/16), the 

majority of London boroughs do not achieve the national average waiting 

time from entry to care to moving in, and there is wide variation in 

performance on this metric and the timeline from placement order to 

matching. 

 
Cost and efficiency performance 

Page 42



 
 
 

 

 

 For local authorities, the vision cites a need to support cost efficient and 

effective delivery that enables future flexibility.  

 The cost of adoption per child varied greatly  

 It showed for local authority adoption agencies that adoption is a very small 

service within many boroughs, which may result in inefficiencies and may 

reduce focus on this area within staff training and development. 

 
Development of the service and the potential delivery models  

The Regionalisation Steering Group considered a number of options for the 
delivery model, and recommended two for further investigation. In order to be able 
to advise London’s local authorities, ALDCS sought legal advice regarding the 
proposed London scheme. In addition, they held two events for elected members, 
as well as engagement with adopters, prospective adopters, and adopted young 
people. 
 
The following delivery vehicles were considered as part of the options appraisal 
process at either the pan-London level or the creation of multiple regional 
agencies: 
 

 Single LA hosting on behalf of other LAs 

 New LA owned entity (LA Trading Company)  

 LA-VAA joint venture 

 Outsourcing to existing London VAAs 

 
Within the above delivery models, a number of structures were considered: 
 

 Fully centralised: a single London body 

 Hub and spoke: central hub for London-wide co-ordination, commissioning 

and delivery, with sub-regional spokes for delivery and local commissioning 

under the same organisation. 

 Tiered approach: top strategic tier, second strategic/ operational tier, third 

delivery tier. 

  As-Is Plus: current arrangement with more formalised partnerships. 

 

After receiving legal advice in regards to the various models and the implications 

for local authorities, stakeholder involvement looking at London’s delivery model 

and potential structure The Regionalisation Project Steering Group recommended 

that the model be a LA trading company delivery model with a strategic VAA 

partnership operating in a hub and spoke structure. 

Where are we now? 

Page 43



 
 
 

 

With the support of the Regionalisation Project Steering Group London is now 

working on the development of four local authority hosted regions and a central 

regional hub.  

Each region will be a fully functioning regional adoption agency in its own right with 

its own governing body consisting of members from the local authorities and 

Voluntary Adoption Agencies in that region.   

Each region has been tasked to: 

 Breakdown of Agency adoption costs  

 Recruitment of project manager for each region 

 Develop a Communication’s group/lead, IT group/lead and HR group/lead 

for the region, which will feed into the central hub and project group.   

 

Havering Focus 

Havering has proposed to lead the RAA for the East Region.  Pooled and 

dedicated services for adoption will deliver better outcomes for children through: 

 Ability to share best practice 

 Stronger leadership 

 Services become more resilient  

 Promote consistency in report writing, assessments and court work 

 As part of establishing the East London RAA the following will be 

considered:  

 To promote staff engagement and consider the delivery model (Business 

case being put together) 

 Need to consider the creation of sufficient political consensus 

 Need to understand the political context in which RAA will be delivered 

 HR and legal – how will this be aligned across the LAs (Terms &Conditions) 

 Staff – will they all sit in one place or remain within their respective boroughs 

 Management and supervision of staff 

 Financial contributions towards RAA 

 Ofsted position in inspecting RAAs  

 Recruitment and engagement with potential adopters  

 Exploration of placements for children with complex physical needs 

 Governance arrangements and engagement with lead members across the 

RAA 

 Consultation with Specialists to advise and guide service offer/ structures  

 Use of adopter /adoptee feedback to shape service provision 

 

Havering will be working in corporation with other local authorities within the East 

London region. This means there will be less competition and more collaboration, 

Page 44



 
 
 

 

which will provide greater scope for financial efficiencies and significantly improve 

outcomes for children and young people. Within the court arena, a RAA should be 

in a position to promote a more coherent and joined up working with the courts. 

An Overview of the Adoption Support Fund  

In May 2015 in support of local authorities and adoptive families in need of support 
services, the government set up the Adoption Support Fund (ASF).  The fund, 
initially worth £19.3 million is for adoptive in need of therapeutic services, such as 
cognitive therapy, play and music therapy, and intensive family support – helping 
children to recover from their previous experiences and attach or maintain this 
attachment with their adoptive families during their childhood/young adult years.  

The Fund is available for children up to, and including, the age of 18 (or 25 with a 
Statement of Special Educational Needs or Education Health & Care Plan), who 
have been adopted from local authority care in England or adopted from Wales but 
are living in England. The ASF is intended to complement and not substitute the 
post order support services from local authorities.   

Access to the ASF is made via a local authority completing an assessment of need 

for families requiring support. The summary of support need is then the basis of an 

application to the ASF which is completed online. All interventions paid for by the 

ASF will have to meet identified outcomes.  

Due to the success of the fund which showed a high demand for therapeutic 

support services for adoptive families and their children, the government agreed to 

continue funding the ASF till 2020 and an additional £2m was made available to 

support families and their children for 2016/17. A cap of £5,000 per family was put 

in place and where there was a need for an application above this, it is now 

required local authorities agree to jointly match fund anything over the £5,000 cap.  

In 2017/18 the ASF has been opened up to children in special guardianship 
placements in need of therapeutic support.  In August 2017 the DfE published a 
report (The Evaluation of the Adoption support Fund) highlighting the success of 
The Fund. The report reported that so far £52m had been released through the 
fund so far, reaching 22,000 children and 18,000 families.  

Summary  

Havering’s Adoption and Support service has one part time worker offering post 
order support services for both adoptive and SGO families. Requests from 
Havering families for therapeutic support from the ASF are growing year on year. 
Referral from special guardianship families is still low but is expected to increase in 
Havering as families are informed and the review of SGO families is embedded as 
a service within the Adoption and Permanence Team.   

Page 45



 
 
 

 

The Government’s commitment to the fund continues until March 2020. The 
nationwide success of the fund has shown the need by families for therapeutic 
support services many of which are not available through local authority adoption 
support services. This is particularly the case for small service provisions such as 
Havering’s. London’s future RAA will potentially offer a strategic approach to 
supporting post order families but due to the level of need, complexity and cost of 
therapeutic support there is still an expectation that the services offered by the new 
RAAs will still need support from a fund such as the ASF.     

 
  IMPLICATIONS AND RISKS 

 
 
 
There are currently no implications to report as this report is for noting only 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

 
None 

Page 46



 
 
 

CHILDREN AND LEARNING OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
SUB-COMMITTEE 
27 FEBRUARY 2018 

  
 

Subject Heading: 
 
 

Annual Report 2016/17 - Havering 
Safeguarding Children Board  

SLT Lead: 
 

Tim Aldridge, Director of Children’s 
Services 
 

Report Author and contact details: 
 
 

Havering Safeguarding Children Board  
 

Policy context: 
 
 

The purpose of this report is to fulfil the 

statutory requirement set out in Working 

Together to Safeguard Children 2015, 

which states that all Local Safeguarding 

Children Boards must publish an annual 

report on the effectiveness of 

safeguarding in their local area.  

 
Financial summary: 
 
 

There are no financial implications as this 
report is for information purposes and is 
required as part of the statutory process. 

 
 

The subject matter of this report deals with the following Council 
Objectives 

 
Communities making Havering                                                                                                    [X] 
Places making Havering                                                                                                                 [X] 
Opportunities making Havering                                                                                                  [X] 
Connections making Havering                                                                                                     [X]    
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 47

Agenda Item 9



 
 
 

 

 

 
SUMMARY 

 
 
This presentation is to brief Members on Parks and Open Spaces.  

 
  
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
 
 
Members are asked to note the presentation on Parks and Open Spaces.   

 
 

 
REPORT DETAIL 

 
 

Officers will present and summarise the main features on Parks and Open Spaces 
 
 

 
  IMPLICATIONS AND RISKS 

 
 
 
Financial implications and risks: None of this covering report. 
 
Legal implications and risks: None of this covering report. 
 
Human Resources implications and risks: None of this covering report. 
 
Equalities implications and risks: None of this covering report. 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

 
None. 

Page 48



 

 

 

 

Havering 

Safeguarding 

Children Board  

Annual Report 2016-17 

 

 

Page 49



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

1 

Havering Safeguarding Children Board Chair Forward 

The HSCB continues to be well supported by both statutory and non-statutory partners and I 

would like to thank all members for their continued support and commitment. I would especially 

like to acknowledge the work of Alice Pleating. She held the role of board manager for 9 years 

but during 2016 she transferred to work within the MASH. Her support for all board members 

and myself has ensured that we have maintained a strong board for many years.  

The focus of the past year has been on the Ofsted inspection in October 2016. This provided 

the board with an external review of the effectiveness of Children Social Care and the HSCB. 

Details of the review will be set out in the annual report. Whilst the Ofsted recommendation was 

‘requires improvement’ for both Children Social Care and the HSCB, their report fully 

acknowledged that Children Social Care had made and were making exciting changes in 

approach and structure ‘Face to Face’ that will help to support children and families in Havering. 

This approach has been fully supported by the board. They were also very positive about the 

role of the Board, and were able to evidence the boards influence in challenging and helping to 

improve outcomes for children. 

I would like to thank everyone involved in the inspection for their honesty an openness during 

the review. Detailed action plans have been produced which will be monitored by the board.  

The past year has also seen a very major change in the structure of the Metropolitan Police. 

This has seen a move to a tri borough structure. Havering has been one of the pathfinder sites 

and the board has been very involved in consultation around the structure, focusing on the need 

to ensure safeguarding structures such as the CAIT remain strong.   

The coming year will see some continued challenges with the impact of budgetary restraints 

which continue to be a challenge that must be a focus of the board during this next financial 

year. The Children Social Care Act which came into force in 2017. As highlighted last year this 

Act has major implications for agencies and specifically Children’s Social Care. A new ‘Working 

Together Guidance’ will be introduced to support the new act and will continue to work with the 

Chief Executives and officers of the three statutory agencies, to ensure that Havering is in the 

best position to implement the new legislation. 

I am pleased to be in a position to support the development of a strong and effective multi 

agency safeguarding offer to children and young people during the upcoming year.   

 

Brian Boxall 

HSCB Independent Chair 

Page 50



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

2 

 

 

Introduction 

The purpose of this report is to fulfil the statutory 

requirement set out in Working Together to 

Safeguard Children 2015, which states that all 

Local Safeguarding Children Boards must 

publish an annual report on the effectiveness of 

safeguarding in their local area.  

Working Together 2015 asserts that LSCBs do 

not commission or deliver direct frontline services 

though they may provide training. While LSCBs 

do not have the power to direct other 

organisations they do have a role in making clear 

where improvement is needed. Each Board 

partner retains their own existing line of 

accountability for safeguarding.  

Our Vision 

Vision Statement 

Keeping children and young people safe is the 

Havering Safeguarding Children’s Board 

overarching priority.   All partnership agencies 

are committed to raising safeguarding standards 

and improving outcomes for all the children and 

young people of Havering.  

Our Six Strategic Aims  

In order to meet our vision, the Havering LSCB 

has identified 6 strategic Aims 

1. Ensure that the partnership provides an 

effective child protection service to all 

children and young people ensuring that all 

statutory functions are completed to the 

highest standards.  

2. Monitor the effectiveness of the multi-agency 

early offer of help to children and young 

people in Havering.   

3. Ensure that agencies work together to 

provide the most vulnerable children and 

young people with the correct help at the 

right time.   

4. Ensuring an integrated multi-agency 

approach to respond to emerging themes 

and priorities identified by the Board and 

through national learning. 

5. Assuring the quality of safeguarding and 

child protection to the wider community. 

6. Ensure that partners learn lessons identified 

through local and national learning, and 

ensure that learning is acted upon and 

embedded in practice across all partner 

organisations.   

This report will provide an overview of the 

following:  

1. Ofsted Inspection 

2. Overview of the 2016-17 safeguarding 

strategic aims.  

3. Summary of the HSCB board sub group 

working and governance 2016-17. 

4. Appendices:  Each agency was 

asked to supply a summary of 

their responses to safeguarding in 

2016-17. These reports are 

Page 51



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

1 

attached to the annual report in 

the appendix.   

Ofsted Inspection 

2016/17 saw the Havering Children Services and 

the Havering Safeguarding Children Board being 

subject to an OFSTED inspection.  

This inspection provided an independent 

overview of children safeguarding in Havering 

and it is important to highlight the inspection 

findings in this annual report. 

Both Children Services and the Safeguarding 

Board received a grading of ‘Requires 

improvement’. It was acknowledged by Ofsted 

that their finding was in light of major structural 

changes to children services with the introduction 

of the Face to Face approach.  

The below comment sums up Ofsted’s findings 

for Children Services: 

 Ofsted recognised that there has been 

considerable  and extensive changes to 

senior management structure in 

Havering since August 2015, which has 

resulted in robust and systematic actions 

to address operational weaknesses in 

the quality of service. 

 Ofsted recognise that a newly recruited 

and experienced senior management 

team has started to make significant and 

sustainable changes to core social work 

practice and to key area such as 

reducing the risks of child sexual 

exploitation. 

 

 

They identified the following weaknesses: 

 Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub MASH 

Emergency Duty Team were weak leading to 

delays in initial responses for some children 

and families. Children received a robust 

response to their needs once they have an 

allocated social worker. 

 Quality of assessment and planning for 

children and young people is too variable. 

 Services for Care Leavers was found to be 

inadequate, care leavers were not being well 

supported. 

In respect of the HSCB Ofsted noted the 

following: 

The board has been effective in raising some 

practice standards by providing challenge to multi 

–agency partners….. the board has worked 

effectively to influence increased staff resources 

to improve looked after children health 

assessments. 

The HSCB provides effective leadership in 

tackling child sexual exploitation at both strategic 

and operational level. 

Ofsted identified the following 

weaknesses of the board.  

 There still remains a weakness in timely 

collection of data and effective use of data to 

ensure effective monitoring and evaluation of 

key Safeguarding services, including those 

for disabled children. 

 Board must continue to ensure that 

thresholds are well understood and are 

operated effectively. 

 Still need to increase oversight of private 

fostering arrangements.  

Page 52



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

2 

 Ofsted found many good practices in both 

the Children Social Care and the board.  

 

 Detailed action plans have been agreed and 

implemented and will be subject to future 

Ofsted review. 

 

Board Challenge 

 To implement the board action plan and 

monitor impact. 

 To monitor the Children Social Care 

action plan. 

Section 1 

2016/17 Strategic Aims 

The Front Door 

The front door to child protection services in 

Havering is the Havering Multi Agency 

Safeguarding Hub (MASH). This was designed to 

facilitate better decision-making and outcomes in 

respect of vulnerable people. The Havering 

MASH is a co-located, multi-agency team 

working in a single, secure hub that receives 

notifications about potential risk and need. The 

partners involved in the multi agency team 

include Police, Public Protection, Health, 

Housing, Probation, Adult Mental Health, Early 

Help Advisor, Missing Persons, and Independent 

Domestic Violence Advocacy. 

The aim of a MASH is to improve the quality of 

information sharing and decision-making at the 

point of referral. As highlighted in last year’s 

report whilst the MASH has been effective it was 

identified that it was a victim of its own success.  

In order to address this  a review of business 

processes (LEAN review) was undertaken 

between January and March 2016. The aim of 

the review was to: 

 Reduce the number of referrals resulting in a 

statutory assessment.  

 Create a joint front door with Early Help and 

MASH to target the most effective service to 

children and families at the earliest 

opportunity. 

The impact of the review implementation is 

reflected in this year’s figures.  

Contacts are received in two locations the MASH 

and Early Help. This year’s data has highlighted 

that 71% of all contacts were received by MASH 

and 29% by Early Help. The total number of 

recorded contacts has significantly increased but 

the percentage of contacts progressed to referral 

to children social care has dropped by 10% to 

23%. An indication of increased quality referrals 

is the % of referrals that are then progressed to 

full assessment. That has increased from 81% to 

89%. 

Whilst the board has continued to see 

improvements concerns were identified by 

Ofsted. Their inspection highlighted that the 

MASH process is causing delay in responding to 

children and families. As has been previously 

highlighted the board will monitor the resultant 

Ofsted action plan.  

Page 53



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

3 

Performance will be reviewed during future audits 

of MASH which will continue throughout 2017 to 

2018. Findings will continue be presented to the 

HSCB Operational group. 

Contact Sources 

Whilst the number of contacts has risen during 

2016/17 The source of the contacts has changed 

slightly from previous years. The Police 

remaining the main referral source at 44 %. 

Schools have increased to 14% of the number of 

the contacts from 7%. In numbers the school 

contacts have increased from 645 to 1472 over 

double which is a significant improvement.  

Secondary Health contacts (inc A&E, Hospital, 

OT, Ward etc) have also significantly increased 

from 20 2015/16 to 255 in 2016/17. 49% of that 

total (125) were  recorded in the 4Q. 

In order to assist agencies identify and evidence 

referral the HSCB Threshold guidance document 

was revised. It is now much shorter and easier to 

use with regards to multi-agency involvement.  

Board Challenge 

 The challenge for the board (as 

identified by OFSTED) is to ensure 

that the threshold for referral is fully 

understood and applied appropriately 

by all agencies. 

Child Protection 

Whilst the MASH acts as the front door and 

provides the initial direction, it is the effectiveness 

of the multi-agency response to referrals that 

impacts on the life of the child and their family  

The progress made in the MASH is further 

evidenced in Child Protection interventions. The 

number of section 47 child protection enquires is 

down 26% from 597 2015/16 to 443 2016/17. 

34% (153) of the section 47 enquiries led to an 

Initial Child Protection Conference this is an 

increase of 4.5% on the previous year.  

This again indicts that the quality of the referral 

 

MASH Referrals and Assessments  

Years 2015-

16 

2016-

17 

Total number Contacts 

received by MASH and Early 

Help  

5859 9293 

Contacts received by MASH 5856 6608 

Contacts received in Early Help N/A 2685 

Contacts progressed to referral 1937 

(33%)  

2130 

(23%) 

Referrals progressed to 

Assessment.  

1842 

(81%) 

2194 

(89%) 

MASH contacts progressed to 

Early Help Service 

2156 

(37%) 

 3657 

(39%) 

Contacts subject to No Further 

Action 

713 

(12%) 

2268 

(24%) 

Contacts progressed to Early 

Help Assessment  

391  

Repeat contacts to social care 

within a year (of total contacts 

received in Triage/MASH) 

2045 

(35%) 

3866 

(42%) 

Page 54



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

4 

from MASH to social care is improving and is 

starting to focus on appropriate cases. 

The number of children subject to a Child 

Protection Plan by 31
st
 March 2017 was 296. 

This was up 4% from the previous year.  

 

Category 

 

2015-16 

 

2016-17 

Average Number of 

children on CP plan at the 

end of March. 

284 296 

Average Number of 

Children on CIN plan 
 193 

Average Number of other 

LA children on CP plan 
17 24 

Average Number of new 

section 47 investigations 

per month 

 

50 

 

37 

 

Havering continues to have a high percentage of 

children subject to a Child Protection Plan under 

the category of Neglect 66.8% compared to 

English average of 44%. This may be due to 

Havering not using “Multiple” categories. 

Timeliness 

The number of case conferences being held 

within the required fifteen-day timeline has again 

increased to 65% increase from 58 per cent 

2015-16. It is noted in the data that in Q3 the 

total reached 80 per cent.  

Completion of assessments with 45 days is an 

area where Children Social Care whilst improving 

is still underperforming. By the end of March 

2017, the figure was 63% up from 49% for the 

previous year. In Q1 Q2 the figure reached 86% 

and 83 % There are indications that at the latter 

end of the year the % was increasing, with 83% 

and 86% of assessments being completed within 

timescale this dropped back to 43% in Q4. 

Once the process has commenced the timeliness 

of the review conferences continues to be very 

good remaining steady at 94%. 

Board Challenge  

 To continue to monitor and challenge 

timeliness.  

86 per cent of active CPPs during 2015 – 16 had 

been in place for twelve months or less which 

indicates effective timely protection plans.   

The continued use and development of the 

Family Group Conferences in the more complex 

and high need cases has proven to be an 

effective mechanism to facilitate better family 

engagement.  This includes the identification of 

risks and the actions required to reduce them.  

This is helping to achieve positive outcomes for 

children and young people with improved family 

engagement. 

Child in Need (CIN)  

CIN plans have continued to increase over the 

year so at March 2017 there were 301 children 

subject to CIN plans an increase from the 267 as 

of Mach 2016. The ethnicity of the children has 

remained reasonable consistent with the 

pervious, white British children from 60% 10% 

Black African 5% Black Caribbean 5% Asian. 

The percentage of CIN cases that are linked to 

the “Toxic Trio” (Mental Health, Domestic 

Violence and substance abuse), has remained 

static at 33% 

10% of children with a CIN plan are disabled. 

Page 55



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

5 

 

Children’s Social Care  

During 2015-16 Havering Children’s Social Care 

under its new director formulated a new way of 

working. 

  

The new Face-to-Face programme was launched 

in April 2016 and aimed to support practitioners 

to spend more time working directly to support 

children and their families in Havering. 

 

To strengthen this programme HSCB supported 

the Local Authorities bid for government 

innovation funding.  Havering Children’s Services 

were successful in a bid to the Department for 

Education’s Innovation Fund. Havering where 

awarded £2.4m over two years to fund a ground 

breaking new approach to working with children 

and young people. This investment will enable 

Havering to work closely with young people and 

co-produce a new delivery model in conjunction 

with a range of partners from the statutory and 

voluntary sector. 

 

This investment will be used to develop services 

for young people Leaving Care and help to 

bridge the gap between Children’s Services and 

Adult Social Care and ensure they have access 

to the best opportunities as they move away from 

the care system.  

The programme will also allow us to share our 

approach to systemic practice with other 

agencies and foster carers, supporting a 

common evidence-based approach in our work 

with young people.  

The Innovation and Improvement team (formerly 

the Transformation Team) will work alongside 

practitioners to deliver this innovative 

programme. 

With the succession of the Innovation funding 

Havering now go ahead and define the 

programme with a plan to launch in September 

2017.  Havering are aiming to incorporate :- 

 Face to Face Systemic training 

 Systemic Fostering, working with a small 

cohort of carers 11-18yrs with complex 

needs with a supervised social worker. 

 Group of foster carers will work together  

 Strengthening the Leaving Care Service with 

an additional 6 practitioners to be recruited. 

 Provide a much more effective service offer 

with regards to teenage pregnancy and 

mental health issues. 

 Leaving Care Service, more support up to 

the age of 25yrs. 

 Support young people with complex needs. 

 Partners will be working with us to deliver the 

Innovation programme. 

 See Change Film company on board to film 

young people about their experience whilst 

being in care. 

As can be seen the funding will help to support 

the response to Ofsted. 

Board Challenge 

 To continue to monitor the funding 

usage and impact. 

Staffing  

One of the biggest risks identified by the board 

and which continued to be a challenge during 

2016-17 was staffing.  

The HSCB has during 2016/17 monitored the 

work force across the agencies. Agency staffing 

levels now form part of the HSCB data collection.  

Page 56



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

6 

Social work staffing continues to be the most 

challenging with 30 % of the establishment 

covered by agency staff. However, there has 

been a significant increase in the number of case 

holding social workers from 79 at Q1 to 110 by 

the end of 2016/17. This is being monitored and 

managed by the Local Authority through its 

Recruitment and Retention Strategy.  In 

response to increasing demand on the service 

the Local Authority has employed a further 24 

agency staff over the agreed establishment.  

This increase has been reflected in the average 

social worker case load which has decreased 

from 18 to 14 by the end of the year.  

In respect of other agencies, the years saw an 

increase in the number of health visitors from 26 

to 29 which is to be welcomed. Whilst the health 

visitor average case load is still high it has 

decreased from 821 to 727. 

School nurse numbers have decreased by 1 from 

16 to 15. Each school nurse has responsibility for 

2-3 secondary schools and up to 9 primary 

schools. The service case load is 4464 which 

equates to an average case load of 281 for each 

school nurse. Up from 248 for the end of year 

2015-16.   

Board Challenge 

 For the board to continue to seek 

information regarding workforce 

stability and assurance that staffing 

levels do not have an impact on the 

provision of services, and to 

challenge when necessary. 

 

 

Looked after Children (LAC) 

Looked after Children are vulnerable and the 

HSCB needs to be continually satisfied that they 

are in receipt of timely support in a stable 

environment.  

Looked After Children 

As of end  

March  

2016 2017 

Total 229 248 

In Borough  114 109 

Out of 

Borough 

110 131 

 

Legal Status 

There are a number of orders that can be applied 

for under the Children Act 1989. 

 Section 31 Full Care Order 

 Section 8 Interim Care Order 

 Section 20 Voluntary Agreement.  

Section 20 does not require a court order just 

agreement of a parent or guardian that the local 

authority can accommodate their child. 

The use of section 20 still remains high. The use 

of section 20 will be subject of audit to ensure 

other forms of care order are not more 

appropriate for the LAC.  

 

 

 

Page 57



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

7 

 

  

S31 S38  S20 S21 

Care 

Order 

Interim 

Care 

Order 

Voluntary 

Accommodatio

n 

Placement Order 

2014-

2015 

74 

(31%) 
26 115 17 

2015-

2016 

88 

(39%) 
28 96 18 

2016- 

2017 

96 

(39%) 
35 101 17 

 

Placement Stability 

Placement Stability meetings bring professionals 

from relevant agencies together to agree the 

most appropriate support package and 

placement for each LAC.  The meeting 

predominantly focusses attention on children and 

people that are in long-term care. 

In most cases it is better to allow a LAC to 

remain in the local area. In some cases 

assessment, would indicate that movement away 

is the best option. The percentage of children 

now in a placement out of the borough has 

increased from 49% 2015-16 to 53% 2016-17. 

The percentage of those children that are in 

placement more than 20 miles from where they 

used to live has also slightly increased by 1% to 

17%.  

Of concern is the declining of percentage of 

children under 16 years of age who have been in 

the same placement for at least 2 years. That 

has reduced from 70% 2015-16 to 59% 2016-17 

.In 2014-15 the percentage was 83% so the 

decline over a two year period is concerning and   

has fallen below the national average of 68%.  

 

Missing 

LAC children represent a high number of the 

missing reports taken and LAC children are more 

likely to be vulnerable and at risk of CSE. The 

board required assurance that the response to 

missing children and LAC in particular was 

appropriate and effective.  

Health 

There is a statutory requirement for all children to 

undergo a health assessment within 20 working 

days of becoming ‘Looked After’.  Thereafter 

children under 5 require review health 

assessments every six months and over 5 

require review health assessments annually. 

There is a slight reduction in percentage with up 

to date medicals decreasing from 91% to 88%.  

Education 

LAC generally achieve more poorly within 

education than their peers. In response to this 

Havering council has established a LAC 

Education Panel to oversee the drive to improve 

educational amongst this group: HSCB will 

monitor the stability of education placements for 

LAC matched to their educational achievements 

during 2015 -2016.  This will support the HSCB 

to identify whether an increase in educational 

placements impacts negatively on attainment.  

Each LAC should have in place an up to date 

Personal Education Plan (PEP). This has 

improved over the year from 64% to 72% by the 

end of 2016-17. This needs to be maintained and 

improved.   

Board Challenge 

 To ensure LAC out of borough 

placements are appropriate and that 

the children are receiving good 

quality support  

Page 58



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

8 

 The Board will continue to monitor 

the LAC Improvement plan and the 

LAC education plan, which focus on 

placement stability, improving 

outcomes and increasing the 

numbers of LAC placed in family 

placements within the borough 

Young Carers 

A young Carer is: 

A person under 18 who provides or intends to 

provide care for another person (of any age, 

except where that care is provided for 

payment, pursuant to a contract or as 

voluntary work). This relates to care to any 

family member who is physically or mentally 

ill, frail, elderly, disabled or misuses of 

alcohol, or substances.  

Section 96 of the Children and Families Act 2014 

Young carers are in many cases a hidden group 

who are often hard to reach. 

Havering during  2016-17 commissioned IMAGO 

Young Carers Service to support Havering’s 

Young carers.  

This service is currently supporting 80 Young 

Carers in Havering. A number are being 

supported also by social care:-  

 Children Protection 9 

 CIN 4 

 Early Help *8 

 Family Assessment 2  

It is of note that 83% are caring for their mother. 

30% are caring for an individual with a disability 

and 45% with a long-term condition. Up to 10 of 

the Young Carers are spending up to 45 hours a 

week caring.  

There work  with these young people are 

intended outcomes are: 

1. Reducing impact of caring 

2. Enjoying a life outside caring 

3. Aspirations for, and achievement of their 

educational and employment potential 

4. Increased confidence, self esteem 

5. Remaining safe, healthy 

6. Help young carers to better meet their own 

need.  

The above starts to provide a picture of Young 

Carers in Havering. But there will also be many 

Young Carers hidden.  

IMAGO have put on Chill Clubs to enable Young 

Carers to have a rest and provide them with fun 

and an opportunity to chill. They have also 

undertaken 9 drop in sessions at local schools.  

It is still a new service but there is early signs of 

success. It has to acknowledge that funding is 

limited which impacts of the totality of the service 

that can be provided but it is making a difference, 

it is raising awareness and helping organisation 

to identify Young Carers. 

Board Challenge 

 To continue to monitor the impact of 

service. 

 To listen to young carers.   

 

Independent Reviewing Service (IRO) 

Purpose of service and legal context 

The Independent Review Officers (IRO) role is 

set within the framework of the IRO Handbook 

and the Care Planning Regulations. The 

responsibility of the IRO is management of the 

Review process which requires regular 

Page 59



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

9 

monitoring between Reviews with young people, 

parents and professionals. The IRO has a key 

role on the scrutiny of Care Planning for Children 

Looked After (CLA) and for challenging drift and 

delay. Within Havering, the IRO function also 

encompasses children subject to Child protection 

plans (CPC) as they hold a mixed case load 

within both areas.  

The Independent Reviewing Service falls under 

the Safeguarding and Service Standards Unit 

(SSSU) within Havering’s Children and Young 

People Service (CYPS). The unit is based at 

Mercury House and direct line management for 

the IROs is undertaken by the SSSU Group 

manager (IRO manager), who in turn reports to 

the Principal Social Worker (PSW). The service 

has responsibility for independently chairing 

Looked after Children reviews (LAC) and Child 

Protection Conferences (CPC). All the IROs are 

experienced senior social workers/ managers 

and are registered with the Health & Care 

Professions Council (HCPC), and bring 

knowledge, expertise and practice awareness to 

strengthen the effectiveness of care planning.  

The service is composed of 1 (FTE) Group 

Manager and 7 (FTE) IRO posts with an 

additional interim IRO post to meet service 

demand. Of the 7 FTE IRO posts, 4 are full time 

and the remainder work compressed or part time 

hours thus there are 9 staff undertaking IRO 

roles. There is also 1 FTE LADO officer 1 FTE 

IRO resigned from the service in March 2017 and 

there is a recruitment campaign in place to recruit 

to this post. The Group manager post was held 

by an interim consultant, but has now been 

permanently recruited to: started in post June 

2017. Additional posts held under SSSU, and 

overseen by the PSW are 1.20 outcome and 

audit officers, 1 (FTE) senior administrator, 3 

(FTE) CP and LAC administrators and 1 (FTE) 

finance and administrative officer. The line 

management regarding the administration posts 

will change following the consultation period for 

the service from June 2017. 

In 2016/17, SSSU considered several actions as 

below. Whilst this was reviewed during 2016/17, 

it was updated to reflect the aspirations and 

ambitions we have following Ofsted 2016. The 

actions were: 

IRO’s: 

 Continue to implement an effective child 

protection conference service and delivering 

key statutory requirements: IRO’s have 

continued to develop and embed good 

practice. The use of signs of safety model 

within child protection meetings has been 

utilised to reflect not only risks, but also the 

strengths. Further training took place on the 

21
st
 April 2017 on how this model can be 

consistently used, understood and developed 

further. 

 Meaningful participation so voices of children 

and families are heard at the individual and 

service wide levels and inform service 

delivery and developments: there has been 

stronger and wider discussion across the 

organisation to embed the use of MOMO 

within both LAC and CPC meetings.  From 

March 2017, we have utilised a revised and 

SMART record of minutes and plans which 

would capture the child’s voice, but also the 

parent’s views.  

 Implement effective performance 

management arrangements to deliver a 

highly effective service: there are clear and 

accountable process in place. Management 

oversight is more evident and frequent 

discussion takes place across of services to 

consider what has gone well, what needs to 

improve. There is a clear line of direction and 

practice requirement for practitioners in place 

Page 60



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

10 

which feeds into better outcomes for children. 

These are age appropriate, understandable 

and represent what they want to change.  

 IRO’s to ensure that children have emotional 

physical & legal permanence at first review: 

this is discussed at the 2
nd

 review (4 months), 

managed throughout the duration of their 

LAC journey. SMART minutes, plans and 

review of cases is taking place, but this 

remains an area for further development 

within 2017/18 

 Continue to monitor the quality of work by 

effective management oversight: this is 

reflected in clear and robust supervision of 

cases with IRO’s. Challenge and discussion 

is reflected in the child’s records, but also 

relayed to parents and professionals,  

 Principal social worker, Group Manager and 

IRO’s to lead with improved content and 

format of plans including modification to 

CCM: there is ongoing review and discussion 

taking place about a new IT system. Part of 

the challenges is how we can adapt the 

plans, formats held on CCM. Some changes 

have been made, but there is a level of 

restriction on what we can achieve at this 

point pending a new IT system being 

confirmed. 

 Children in need of protection have clear 

effective and time-limited child protection 

plans: improvements have been observed, 

but further work is required. Plans have been 

Quality assured in several cases and a 

revised template is now in use from March 

17. However, plans are not always routinely 

SMART and can at times lead more towards 

case management or supervision, rather than 

be outlined. Additional challenges have been 

that plans are not always progressed in-

between CP conferences or core groups, 

thus do not always reflect the most recent 

concerns. IROs will increase and record 

more frequently midway reviews. This 

remains an area of further review and 

investigation for 2017/18  

 Strive to ensure children are not made 

subject of Child Protection plans 

unnecessarily: there is evidence this has 

taken place and IRO’s are robust in terms of 

decision making and stepping down plans 

where appropriate.  Support services such as 

early intervention is now in place, records 

reflect an overview of risk.   

Recommendations for future 

development 

 

During 2017/18, the Independent Reviewing 

Service will continue to focus upon the 

development of its quality assurance and practice 

development functions. This will include Specific, 

Measurable, Achievable, Realistic and Timely 

(SMART) outcomes so that we can measure the 

impact for children and young people. The 

Independent Reviewing Service will continue to 

work with young people and parents to seek 

feedback from them about the service we 

provided. This could take place after reviews or 

in the form of 360-degree feedback for PDRs. 

This feedback will enable us to improve the 

services we provide both within SSSU, but also 

to improve our effectiveness. The group manager 

will continue to regularly quality assure minutes 

and plans, observe IRO’s and ensure the 

standards are maintained so that best practice is 

shared. SSSU has an updated service plan and 

information regarding leaflets on LAC and CPC’s. 

This has been shared within the SSSU, but also 

the wider organisation. Peer and review 

evaluations will be explored with a (good) 

comparator to support further development of 

SSSU. Peer audits will triangulate with outcomes, 

performance data and feedback and establish a 

Page 61



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

11 

stronger presence in planning and 

communication within the wider service. In 

2017/18, there will be further team development 

days which will focused on developing the team 

identify and achievements.   

Board Challenge 

 To continue to monitor the impact of the 

IRO function. 

Private Fostering 

Private Fostering is still a major challenge. This 

was highlighted by Ofsted. The number of 

registered privately fostered children remains 

low, and has reduced over the past year despite 

extensive publicity and training. Action is being 

taken to address this situation and is led by 

Children Social Care. This remains a priority for 

the HCSB.  

Board Challenge 

 For the board to ensure that partners 

continue to promote and raise 

awareness of Private Fostering in order 

to ensure that such arrangements are 

identified and registered.  

Child Sexual Exploitation and Missing 

Children  

There have been significant developments of 

CSE during 2016/17, The Ofsted Inspection 

identified the following findings in relation to CSE: 

 

 “Children who are at risk of sexual 

exploitation, or who go missing from home or 

care, get the right help and this makes them 

safer”. 

 

Arrangements to tackle child sexual exploitation 

and cases of children going missing from home 

and care are prioritised, and most children 

receive a well-coordinated multi-agency 

response to their needs. The multi-agency sexual 

exploitation (MASE) meetings are purposeful and 

provide an effective framework to reduce risks. 

However, return home interviews are not always 

timely and some are not sufficiently thorough or 

analysed. 

 

Child Sexual Exploitation is a key priority for the 

local authority and its partners. There is a good 

awareness of child sexual exploitation among 

family support workers and social workers, and 

the quality of practice appropriately safeguards 

the needs of children and young people. The 

local authority is refining the risk assessment tool 

to be more specific and to capture information 

more robustly. Mapping meetings for individual 

children ensure that information is shared 

effectively and there is a well - coordinated 

response to risk in most cases. In cases seen by 

inspectors, children at risk of sexual exploitation 

who are subject to child protection plans receive 

well-targeted help based on a thorough multi-

agency understanding of risk. 

 

A key priority area for the Borough is the 

improvement of the quality and frequency of the 

completion of return home interviews.  

 

CSE Co-ordinator role (Strategic and 

Operational response) 

In July 2016, it was recognised that a CSE Co-

ordinator role was necessary to develop the 

Operational and Strategic response to CSE and 

Missing, this post was filled on the 1 August 2016 

with the following priority areas: 

 Coordinate the development and completion 

of a multi-agency Strategy document which 

Page 62



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

12 

sets out the direction of travel for CSE and 

the focus areas for periods 2016-2018. In 

December 2016, the three year Strategy was 

ratified by the HSCB and can be found on 

the London Borough of Havering’s LSCB 

website.  

 Coordinate the development and completion 

of the multi-agency Missing protocol which 

sets out key guidance on how The London 

Borough of Havering and its partners seeks 

to operate in relation to children from home, 

care, education and those children who are 

placed within the Borough by other Local 

Authorities. In December 2016, when the 

missing protocol was ratified by the HSCB 

and can be found on the London Borough of 

Havering’s LSCB website.  

 The Strategic and Operational panels has 

been streamlined to improve the “joined up 

working and information sharing” across the 

forums. 

 Training has been offered conducted for 

Havering staff on CSE, Missing and Return 

Home Interviews across Havering social 

care. 

 Training has also been provided on CSE, 

Missing and Return Home Interviews for 

multi-agency staff during October 2016 

safeguarding week. 

 Police have offered training on CSE, Missing 

and Operation Makesafe to all Foster Carers 

in December 2016, this is due to be repeated 

and refreshed at the end of September 2017.  

 A police and social care data set has been 

set out in draft format capturing information 

from January 2017. This data set is based on 

the recommendations of the University of 

Bedfordshire. This is a key focus area for the 

data analyst going forward.  

 

Havering Professionals Forums  

The following Havering professional’s forum’s 

takes place in Havering: 

 CSE Operational Panel – This is a monthly 

meeting which considers all operational 

matters relating to CSE. This includes new 

case referrals for the month, a rolling review 

of opened cases, an analysis of emerging 

themes and patterns relating to locations of 

concern, people of concerns and 

perpetrators and impact on the safeguarding 

of associated children in Havering. The panel 

also considers what matters require referral 

to the MASE panel which is the Strategic 

mechanism for CSE. This panel also has 

standing agenda items on county lines, 

related panels e.g. Missing panels and 

Ending group violence panel. This is 

attended by keyworkers who are able to 

provide case information. This panel also 

seeks to ensure that key performance 

mechanism e.g. strategy meetings take pace 

and that there is good multi-agency 

attendance. Consultation on CSE cases is 

also available on a one-one basis across 

children’s social care and related partners, 

so that there isn’t a requirement to wait until 

the panel for a case discussion. 

 

 Missing panel – This is a monthly multi-

agency panel which reviews the children 

generating the highest number of missing 

episodes, those high risk cases where there 

are multiplies concerns i.e. Missing, County 

Lines, CSE, gangs; as well as any themes 

and patterns emerging from Return home 

interviews relating to concerning associated 

persons and locations of concern. The panel 

also considers any linked information from 

linked panels and considers whether specific 

Page 63



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

13 

cases require referrals to strategic panel e.g. 

EYGV panel/MASE panel for a Borough wide 

response.  

 

 MASE Panel – This is a monthly strategic 

panel which considers those cases where 

CSE, Missing and County Lines require a 

strategic response, where themes, patterns 

and locations of concern and persons of 

concern which require a multi-agency 

intervention and/disruption plans. This panel 

is attended by decision makers who are able 

to make onsite decisions on funding, specific 

multi-agency intervention plans for 

prevention, disruption and prosecution.  

CSE Awareness Raising  

 There has been a rolling plan of CSE 

Awareness across the Borough. The CSE 

Coordinator (Strategic and Operational) has 

provided briefings and training sessions for 

key staff areas e.g. YOT, social workers, 

family support workers. The Coordinator also 

acts as a point of contact for partner and 

external agencies seeking support on cases 

where CSE and missing are key issues. The 

below are some areas covered from August 

2016 – current.  

 Schools awareness raising : The Safer 

Neighbourhood Board and Community safety 

team in conjunction with MOPAC (Mayor’s 

Office for Policing and crime) funded an 

awareness raising project through the Arc 

Theatre – Broadcast. This was offered to all 

Secondary schools in Havering to raise 

awareness on CSE, image sharing and the 

use of social media. This was done through 

two delivery streams and also included the 

delivery of a Junior Broadcast for Year six 

schools. Please see the attached report 

detailing the schools awareness raising 

(Havering Broadcast report Project Report: 

Winter 16/Spring 17 Tour and Havering 

Broadcast report spring 2017 tour). 

 

Parents and Carers and Wider Community  

 Senior member from Social care/Lead 

Counsellor and Police to raise awareness on 

Time FM. This was done by Superintendent 

John Ross and two Youth parliament 

representatives.  

 Social media Campaign through the 

promotion of Havering Intranet, Web pages, 

and social media sites i.e. Twitter, Snapchat, 

Facebook. 

 Local media: Communications department 

arranged for awareness raising  through the 

Havering Living Magazine, Havering E-

newsletter. 

 Awareness raising  in Key Forums e.g. LGBT 

Forum, BME Forum, Interfaith Forum, 

Corporate Parenting Panel. 

 Briefing sessions have taken place for Senior 

leadership and key forums e.g. Corporate 

parenting panel (September 2016) and Inter-

faith Forum (March 2017) 

 Police from the Central policing partnership 

team have arranged to conduct briefings on 

CSE, Operation Makesafe and Missing for 

Safer neighbourhood staff in Havering in 

preparation for the summer holidays, this is 

due to take place on the 28 July 2017. 

 Police from the Central policing partnership 

team are also due to deliver training to all 

foster carers at the end of September 2017, 

this is on CSE, Missing and Operation 

Makesafe with a particular focus on practical 

guidance on information gathering, reporting 

of incidents and information that police would 

require to locate children quicker.    

 

 

Page 64



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

14 

Missing and Return Home Interviews:  

The following mechanisms exist for the oversight 

and Borough response to Missing and Return 

Home interviews:  

 

 Weekly missing data is produced (on a 

Monday and Friday) to identify those 

children that are missing weekly and 

over the weekends. This list serves as 

one of the triggers to identify those cases 

that require strategy meetings and 

planned multi-agency actions to find 

them, conduct return home interviews 

and plan for reducing missing and harm.  

 Case consultations are held one a 1:1 

basis for those cases where there is high 

risk, this would also involve attendance 

at high risk strategy meetings for 

individual and groups of children that 

have been missing or have multiple 

concerns  were  missing is a feature.  

 Systemic consultation is also sought 

where there are particular blockages to 

service delivery and entrenched missing 

patterns.  

 Monthly data is produced to identify high 

risk and high frequency missing children 

– these form the basis of discussions at 

the Missing panel – see point 1b above.  

 Patterns and themes are identified i.e. 

teams where there are high missing 

episodes and requiring specific support 

in the completion of good quality Return 

home interviews. 

 

Return Home interviews (RHI’s)  

This is an area of particular focus and the 

Borough recognises the requirement to 

improve the recording, quality and 

completion of RHI’s across Early Help, Mash 

and Assessment and Intervention and 

Support services.  

 The completion of RHI’s is monitored by 

the Business Support team , the CSE 

and Missing Coordinator and Head of 

Service with a reminder and alert system 

built in for emails to be sent to staff 

where RHI’s are required reminding them 

of timescales for completion. An 

escalation system has been built in for 

those RHI’s that remain incomplete for 

Deputy Team Manager, Team Manager 

and Head of Service oversight. 

 Team training sessions and briefings are 

regularly offered to all  staff conducting 

Return home interviews to understand 

the whole missing episode e.g. How to 

prepare for a Return home interview from 

either receiving the police report  

identifying a child as missing, how to 

gather information from key people that 

may have seen the child before they 

went missing and may have key 

information on events/triggers that may 

have contributed to the missing episode, 

how to identify key patterns relating to 

County Lines, sexual/gang exploitation, 

perpetrators and associates.  

 The completion of RHI’s and analysis of 

information obtained from RHI’s are 

regularly reviewed and analysed at 

strategy meetings, missing panels and 

associated panels where links are 

established.  

 It is acknowledged that this is an area 

that requires continuing scrutiny and a 

high degree of focus from the different 

systems responding to return home 

interviews. It remains a high priority area 

and there continues to be robust 

Page 65



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

15 

explorations of ways to improve the 

quality of return home interviews.  

.Gangs and CSE Analyst 

MOPAC funding (Mayor’s office for Police and 

Crime) has been secured through the Community 

Safety unit for a Gangs and CSE analyst, this 

role is essential to identify themes, tracking of 

cases through the multi-agency data set and to 

contribute to the CSE problem profile. This role 

has been recently filled and the new post holder 

is going through a period of induction. This is an 

essential role and will add value to the delivery of 

services for CSE, Gangs and Missing children in 

Havering.  

Early Help 

Early help is the bedrock to improving outcomes 

for children and young people. Effective early 

help will improve outcomes and help reduce the 

need for more serious child protection processes. 

Early help is crucial in the ‘step down’ from child 

protection to child in need and child in need to 

early assessment processes.  Thresholds for 

services must be fully understood and embedded 

if step down or step up transitions are to be 

smooth and supportive to families.    

‘Early help is better for children: it minimises 

the period of adverse experience and 

improves outcomes for children’ 

Eileen Munro March 2011 

The Early Help Service offers some of Havering’s 

most vulnerable families support in the following 

areas: 

 Family intervention and support – under 12s 

and over 12s 

 Children’s centres 

 Targeted Youth Support 

 Employment Advice 

 Adult mental health assessments 

 Opportunities to volunteer with the LA 

 Housing support and advice 

 Support for victims of Domestic Abuse 

 Family Group Conferencing 

 Parenting Support – surgeries and 

programmes 

Past year has seen the further developments of 

the service: 

The Outcomes Star has now been embedded 

into the Early Help service and is utilised as the 

assessment and distance travelled tool for all 

families within the service to support with 

evidencing the progression and positive changes 

made by families.  

The Outcomes Star is further being developed 

with partners via the North Locality Pilot, 

following on from Early Help having trained three 

train the trainers for the purpose.   

The concept that the North Locality Pilot has 

been born from is based on the principle that 

services working with families could be more 

effective if there was a more integrated approach 

with closer collaboration. The aim is to deliver 

more effective, whole-family interventions, and 

try to provide the right support to families at the 

right time. Feedback from families is that the 

range of services can be confusing. There are 

numerous examples of families being referred 

from one service to another. The North Locality 

Pilot aims to provide a service to families that do 

not quite meet the threshold for intervention; we 

can work preventatively and avoid issues and 

problems becoming more serious and intractable.  

Page 66



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

16 

Mentoring Service 

A Mentoring Service has been developed within 

Early Help from March 2017. We have currently 

recruited and trained 17 Mentors all of which 

have been successfully matched to young 

people. There has been a vast demand for this 

service and as so we continue to recruit 

Volunteers for the purpose with the aim of 

reaching 30 mentors by April 2018.  

Independent Visitors  

In response to Ofsted the Independent Visitors 

(IV) service has been developed within Early 

Help. The deadline given for the launch of the 

IV’s was September 2017, we have exceeded 

this target and currently have 7 young people 

matched with IVs. These are primarily young 

people who are UASC, placed out of borough or 

are not in contact with their parents. This 

therefore suggests that the service is being 

targeted appropriately. We currently have 

recruited and trained 13 IV’s and therefore have 

capacity to continue to match young people.   

Board Challenge 

 To continue to monitor and be 

assured that early help is intervening 

at the earliest opportunity to improve 

the outcomes for children and their 

families.   

Community Safety Team 

This team is responsible for the development and 

implementation of work to reduce crime and 

disorder, as well as the fear of crime, within the 

borough.  It achieves this through both direct 

work and by co-ordinating strategic partnership 

working with the wide range of public, private and 

voluntary sector partners represented on the 

Havering Community Safety Partnership (HCSP) 

and the Safer Neighbourhoods Board. The 

following is a summary of the current situation in 

Havering.  

Violence against women and children 

VAWG strategy: Significant progress has been 

made with the delivery of the VAWG Action Plan 

since the strategy was agreed in 2014, with a 

number of project actions completed and ongoing 

actions now implemented into business practice. 

The strategy is due to be updated for October 

2017 and a timeline for this has been agreed.  

VAWG support services: Havering Women’s 

Aid is currently commissioned by Community 

Safety to provide the Domestic Violence 

Advocacy Project, the Domestic Violence 

Support Group and MENDAS – a support and 

advocacy project aimed specifically at male 

victims with a dedicated helpline. The projects 

are commissioned to run from April 2017 to 

March 2018. 

Domestic Violence Champions Training: Over 

60 practitioners have attended the Domestic 

Violence Champions Training. The Training aims 

to create a wider awareness of the referral 

pathways, an overview of the DASH RIC, and 

awareness of the different types of abuse.  More 

training dates are being organised for the coming 

year. 

DASH RIC Training:  32 people attended 

training on the Dash RIC assessment.  

Child to Parent Violence Training : 40 people 

attended a workshop  in March which focused on 

the effects of child to parent violence 

Prevent 

Page 67



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

17 

Through the Havering SCB training portal all 

Havering staff and agencies in Borough are 

offered Prevent Awareness Training.  There were 

over 350 participants for this this training and 

over 95% felt the training met learning outcomes. 

Community Safety Team co-ordinate and 

administer a number of risk panels. These 

include the Domestic Violence multi agency risk 

assessment conference (MARAC), the 

Community MARAC, Anti-Social Behaviour 

(ASB) panel, Serious Group Violence ( SGV) 

Panel and the drug Intervention Panel (DIP).  

A new local prevent group was set up with 

representation from key departments of the 

council as external partners such as health and 

the police 

Child Sexual Exploitation  

Broadcast an is interactive drama and multi-

media programme funded by Havering Safer 

Neighbourhood Board, which toured five of the 

Borough’s secondary schools from November 

2016 to March 2017.  The performance is tailored 

to make year 7 to 9 pupils awareness of sexting, 

cybercrime and other methods that are used 

regarding child sexual exploitation. 

For 2017, Broadcast has been specially 

redeveloped in order to further develop the 

issues with secondary audiences.  The 

programme consisted of an initial scripted 

scenario and interactive Forum Theatre 

workshop, combined with a Q&A discussion and 

PowerPoint Presentation with film clips. In total, 

12 Broadcast sessions of up to 60-minutes each 

took place across five targeted secondary 

schools in the Borough, performing to 

approximately 1160 pupils in Years 7 to 9 (mixed 

gender) 

 

Training  

ASB: ASB Training has been provided by the 

Community Safety Team to Havering Police 

around the new legislation and in particular the 

usage of Community Protection Notices. Around 

30 officers received training in a classroom 

setting and 1:1 training is still ongoing as and 

when officers require it. 

Gangs Training:  A total of 181 front line 

workers took part in gangs training in 2016-2017. 

Following the training 84% felt better equipped to 

identify individuals at risk or involved in gang 

activity. Going forward this year we are looking to 

target Teachers working within PRU’s, workers in 

Children’s Homes and Foster carers. This 

specific cohort has daily contact with individuals 

who are at greatest risk of being involved in/ at 

risk of being involved in gangs. 

Domestic Violence Champions Training: Over 

60 practitioners have attended the Domestic 

Violence Champions Training. The Training aims 

to create a wider awareness of the referral 

pathways, an overview of the Dash RIC, and 

awareness of the different types of abuse.  More 

training dates are being organised for the coming 

year. 

DASH RIC Training:  32 people attended 

training on the Dash RIC assessment.  

Child to Parent Violence Training: 40 people 

attended a workshop in March which focused on 

the effects of child to parent violence . 

PREVENT training: Through the Havering SCB 

training portal all Havering staff and agencies in 

Borough are offered Prevent Awareness 

Training.  There were over 350 participants for 

this this training and over 95% felt the training 

met learning outcomes. 

Page 68



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

18 

Good Practice 

Junior Citizen: Junior Citizen is a personal 

safety awareness raising programme designed to 

help young children transitioning from primary to 

secondary school. This includes road safety, 

knives, illegal substances, fire safety, Street care 

and much more. This year 1800 year 6 pupils 

attended the 2 week long project from 28 

schools. The event is sponsored by MOPAC and 

a receives contribution by MTR Crossrail  

Gangs Training:  A total of 181 front line 

workers took part in gangs training in 2016-2017. 

Following the training 84% felt better equipped to 

identify individuals at risk or involved in gang 

activity. Going forward this year we are looking to 

target Teachers working within PRU’s, workers in 

Children’s Homes and Foster carers. This 

specific cohort has daily contact with individuals 

who are at greatest risk of being involved in/ at 

risk of being involved in Gangs. 

Gangs Conference: Over the last 2 years 

Havering council has hosted an annual Gangs 

conference. This has helped to raise awareness 

of the issue and bring to light the dangers facing 

our young people in the Borough.  This year’s 

event which took place in February 2017 had a 

total of 150 frontline practitioners from both the 

public and private sectors attend the conference. 

The focus of the day was on gangs, knife crime 

and the overlap between missing persons, child 

sexual exploitation and county lines. Feedback 

from the event was extremely positive and very 

relevant to the local picture.  

VAWG Conference: Over 100 people attended 

the VAWG Conference which took place on the 

30 November 2016 at Taunton Hall. A variety of 

presentations were given ranging from Forced 

Marriage, The LGBT Domestic Abuse 

Partnership, and Helping Young People towards 

Respectful, Non-violent Relationships and the 

London Fire Brigade: Achieving White Ribbon 

Status. Plans are already in place for Havering’s 

2017 conference. 

Child to Parent Violence Training :  40 people 

attended a workshop  in March which focused on 

the effects of child to parent violence   

Views of Children &Young People 

Over the past year the board has continued to 

work with Children and Young People.  

In May 2016 representatives from the Children 

in Care Council, the Youth Parliament and Young 

Carers gave a presentation to board members 

Panel. 

This was followed up with a video made by the 

young people.  

Their major involvement was in the work around 

transition and the Adult Safeguarding Adult 

Review. They provided feedback for the review 

and have presented their lived experiences at a 

number of events.   

LAC views are accessed via View point; the 

views of children subject to CP plan are also 

captured via View point.  

Board Challenge  

 To improve the use of  feedback to 

better inform board future board 

strategy.  

 

 

 

Page 69



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

19 

Section 2 

Learning and Improving 

Framework  

Case Reviews  

Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCBs) 

should maintain a local learning and 

improvement framework which is shared across 

local organisations that work with children and 

families. This framework should enable 

organisations to be clear about their 

responsibilities, to learn from experience and 

improve services as a result 

Case Review Working Group 

The purpose of HSCB Case Review Working 

Group (CRWG), is to ensure that the statutory 

requirements contained in Chapters 3 and 4 of 

Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015 

are embraced and delivered. 

The local Learning and Improvement Framework 

supports the work of HSCB and its partners so 

that:  

 reviews are conducted regularly, not only on 

cases which meet statutory criteria, but also 

on other cases which can provide useful 

insights into the way organisations are 

working together to safeguard and protect 

the welfare of children and this learning is 

actively shared with relevant agencies;  

 reviews look at what happened in a case, 

and why, and what action will be taken to 

learn from the review findings;  

 action results in lasting improvements to 

services which safeguard and promote the 

welfare of children and help protect them 

from harm; and  

 there is transparency about the issues 

arising from individual cases and the actions 

which organisations are taking in response to 

them 

The Local Framework covers the full range of 

reviews and audits including:  

 Serious Case Reviews 

 Safeguarding Adult Reviews  

 Management Review of a child protection 

incident which falls below the threshold of a 

SCR to provide useful insights about the way 

organisations work together to safeguard and 

promote the welfare of children.  

 Management review of a Safeguarding adult 

incident which falls below the threshold of a 

SAR to provide useful insights about the way 

organisations work together to safeguard and 

promote the welfare of children.  

 Oversight of the delivery of multi-agency 

dissemination of learning events to ensure 

that staff are made aware of key priorities 

identified within learning review processes 

Key Areas of progress and achievement 

matched to business plan priorities to 

include Current activities and on-going 

work  

Activity April 2016 to April 2017    

 The group has met on three occasions 

throughout the reporting period when there 

has been a case referred for consideration 

for SCR or SAR. The group has considered 

four cases in total – two pertaining to a child / 

children and two pertaining to the care 

received by an adult.  

 

 

Page 70



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

20 

Re Serious Case Reviews  

 Of the two children’s cases considered 

neither met the criteria for review. Of note, 

the non-statutory SAR considered the 

transition between children and adults 

services.  

Long and short term risks and priorities 

 The CRWG reported concerns to the 

Operational Board in relation to drift in the 

implementation of action plans developed 

following serious case reviews and learning 

reviews. This was addressed through the 

establishment of bi-annual Learning & 

Improvement Executive board which 

commenced September 2016.  

 The purpose of these meetings is to ensure 

that each organization is held to account for 

the way in which actions are implemented 

and how this has impacted on improved 

outcomes for service users. 

 This transfer of responsibility has ensured 

appropriate senior organisational oversight of 

action plans and has enabled the CRWG to 

focus on it prime function   of  establishing 

whether a case has met the criteria for 

Review  

How the work group utilised the views 

of children, young people, parents 

and carers  

 Children, young people, parents, carers and 

adults with care and support needs are not 

actively involved in the CRWG processes.  

As part of consideration of whether a case 

has met the criteria for review, there will be 

consideration as to whether the voice of the 

child or adult is evident in the delivery of 

services. 

Actions to be taken to address the 

risks and the expected impact on 

outcomes 

 See section above regarding long and short 

term risks and priorities 

Evidence that learning is being 

embedded 

 The challenge for the Case Review Group 

and all partner agencies is to evidence the 

embedding of learning in practice. This is a 

priority for action in the coming year. 

 

Serious Case Reviews. 

Two serious case reviews have been progressed 

during 2016-17. 

The overview report written in response to each 

review will be published once all processes have 

completed. 

has impacted on improved outcomes for service 

users.   

Board Challenge 

 To incorporate national and local learning 

into briefings and to ensure that this is 

disseminated widely and understood by 

practitioners.  

 To continue to ensure multi agency learning 

impacts on service delivery through focused 

audit and feedback 

 

 

 

Page 71



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

21 

Child Deaths: The Child Death 

Overview Panel (CDOP) and 

Serious Case Reviews  

 

Working Together 2015 states: 

 

“The LSCB is responsible for ensuring that a 

review of each death of a child normally 

resident in the HSCB’s area is undertaken by 

a CDOP. The CDOP will have a fixed core 

membership drawn from organisations 

represented on the LSCB with flexibility” 

 

Summary of 16/17 Child Death Overview 

Panel Report 

Number of deaths recorded in 2016/17.  

The Havering CDOP is aware of the deaths of 

twelve children and young people aged less than 

18 years normally resident in the borough during 

2016/17.  

This included one death which occurred out of 

borough that was not reported to the Havering 

CDOP and was only identified by the end of year 

‘cross-check’ against the ONS Primary Care 

Mortality Database.  Further information is being 

sought to enable this death to be reviewed and 

understand why we were not advised of this 

death when it happened.  

Twelve is more deaths than identified in 2015/16 

(9) but well below the peak seen in the three 

years 2010 – 2013 when an average of 24 

deaths were reported each year. There is 

currently no evidence to suggest that this is a 

significant adverse trend.  Nonetheless 

surveillance will continue.   

 

 

Number of deaths reviewed.   

Eleven reviews were completed in 2016/17; 9 

reviews were still outstanding, the oldest from 

2015/16. 

Description of cases  

Age at death  

Nearly 60% of all deaths occur in the first year of 

life; more than 40% within 4 weeks of birth. 

Gender and Ethnicity  

Interpretation of data regarding ethnicity and 

childhood deaths is problematic given the very 

small numbers involved.  This said, a quarter of 

all deaths reviewed by CDOP were Black African 

children.  Nationally Pakistani, Black Caribbean 

and Black African babies have the highest infant 

mortality rates which may be due to the fact that 

these ethnicities are more likely to live in a 

deprived area and more likely to have parents in 

a less advantaged socio-economic position.
1
 

Category and prior expectation of death 

About 60% of deaths were expected – i.e. death 

was deemed likely in the next 24 hour period.  

Expected deaths often resulted where a baby 

was born prematurely, with significant congenital 

anomalies or suffered from malignancy or a 

known life limiting condition.   

Nonetheless about 40% of deaths were 

unexpected.  Perinatal events and sudden 

unexpected death of older babies were the most 

common category of unexpected death.   

Cause of death 

Neonatal death or a known life limiting condition 

was recorded as cause of death in 2/3rds of 

cases.   

                                                           
 

Page 72



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

22 

The next most frequent cause of death was 

‘other’ including 3 cases of infection / sepsis and 

Sudden Unexpected Death of an Infant (SUDI).  

Deaths with modifiable factors 

Modifiable factors i.e. factors that might be 

addressed to reduce the risk of recurrence were 

identified in 5 of the 24 cases reviewed over the 

3 years. These cases involved lifestyle related 

risk factors and or improvements in clinical care.   

 

Safeguarding issues  

None of children considered by CDOP over the 

period 2014/15 to 2016/17 was the subject of a 

serious case review.  

No deaths were categorised as deliberately 

inflicted injury, abuse or neglect.  

The CDOP didn’t identify safeguarding issues as 

a modifiable factor in any case.  

 

Parental engagement 

Parents continue to be sent a letter explaining 

the CDOP process and suggesting that they can 

contribute their views should they wish.  For the 

first time in several years, parents have 

responded both to contribute to the process (x1) 

and to ask for assistance (x2) in securing more 

information about the circumstances of their 

child’s death.  In the former case, the CDOP 

chair and administrator met with a parent to 

understand their views so that they could be 

presented clearly to the Panel.   

 

Progress with priorities from 15/16  

 SUDI – Health Visiting and midwifery 

confirmed that advice given to parents 

complied with best practice.   

 Sepsis – Both CCG and BHRUHT shared 

progress made with roll out of training and 

systems designed to monitor delivery of best 

practice.  

 Smoking in pregnancy – LBH has 

commissioned stop smoking service for 

pregnant women and other residents in the 

same household.  

 Coordination across wider foot print and 

better integration with CCG’s clinical quality 

processes – in principle agreement from 

BHRCCGs and LSCB and CDOP chairs in all 

3 boroughs.  Meetings to discuss 

implementation have still to begin.   

The Havering CDOP is responsible for reviewing 

the circumstances of all child deaths within the 

borough. 

Whilst the CDOP aims to complete its work as 

quickly as possible there are often delays due to 

factors such as securing post-mortem reports. 

This leads to some death reviews not being 

completed in the year (financial) that they occur.  

Nine new cases were reported in 2015/16. This is 

consistent with the previous year. Four cases 

were closed in 2015/16 only 2 of these deaths 

occurred in year. The remaining 7 deaths 

reported to CDOP in 2015/16 remain open.  

 

Concerns have previously been raised that some 

deaths may not have been reported to the 

CDOP. However, an audit has shown that the 

CDOP process in Havering identified all deaths 

known to the ONS (Primary Care Mortality 

Database). 

 

Due to the small numbers a view of deaths 

occurring over a 3 year period provides a better 

picture.  

 

When considering deaths 2013 to 2016 a third of 

deaths occurred within a month of birth;  a half 

within the first year of life.  

 

Page 73



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

23 

70% concerned White British Children which is a 

similar proportion of White British children in 

Havering school.  

 

For the purposes of CDOP, an 

unexpected death is defined as- 

 

‘the death of an infant or child which was not 

anticipated as a significant possibility for 

example, 24 hours before the death; or where 

there was an unexpected collapse or incident 

leading to or precipitating the events which 

lead to the death’. 

 

The final decision lies with the Designated 

Paediatrician.  Just under  half of child deaths 

where unexpected during this period. 

  

Number of expected and unexpected 

deaths by category of death 

 

Neonatal death or a known life limiting condition 

was recorded as cause of death in 2/3rds of 

cases. The next most frequent cause was ‘other’ 

including 3 case of infection/sepsis and Sudden 

Unexpected Death of an Infant (SUDI). There 

was also 1 case of drowning and two deaths as a 

result of a traffic accident.  

 

Safeguarding issues 

None of children considered by CDOP over the 

period 2013/14 to 2015/16 was the subject of a 

serious case review.  

No deaths were categorised as deliberately 

inflicted injury, abuse or neglect.  

The CDOP didn’t identify safeguarding issues as 

a modifiable factor in any case.  

One child had been the subject of child protection 

arrangements at some point, but not at the time 

of their death.   

Board Challenge  

 To review the future arrangements of the 

CDOP in light of the recommendations in the 

Wood Review.   

 To work with neighbouring boroughs and in 

order to provide a greater picture over and 

increased population size.  

Safeguarding in Employment  

Working Together 2015 Chapter 2  

“ Local  Authorities should put in place 

arrangements to provide advice and guidance 

on how to deal with allegations against 

people who work with children to employers 

and voluntary organisations. Local 

authorities should also ensure that there are 

appropriate arrangements in place to 

effectively liaise with the police and other 

agencies to monitor the progress of cases 

and ensure that they are dealt with as quickly 

as possible, consistent with a thorough and 

fair process” 

This year has seen the appointment of a 

permanent Local Authority Designated Officer 

and a 28 hour Business Support post. The Group 

Manager for the Safeguarding & Service 

Standards unit has line management 

responsibility for the LADO.  

 

The aim of the Local Authority Designated Officer 

service is to provide a knowledgeable and robust 

team that oversees allegations against people 

who work with children and therefore in a position 

of trust.  

 

Page 74



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

24 

Over the past year the demands on the LADO 

role has continued to increase, this is a trend that 

has been seen nationally and also in line with the 

experience of Havering’s neighbouring 

authorities.   

 

Referrals to the LADO service have continued an 

upward trend, and in the 2016 - 2017 reporting 

year there were a total of 395 contacts to the 

LADO. There were a total of 226 contacts which 

met the threshold for a LADO enquiry and were 

converted into referrals. This is an increase of 

23% on new referrals in the year 2015 – 2016 

and 111% in contacts. Contacts continue to rise 

each quarter. Of the referrals received there was  

a total of 143 strategy meetings chaired by the 

LADO in this period.  

 

The increase is believed in part to be a result of 

improved awareness of the LADO process, 

national awareness has increased due to Public 

Inquiries such as the Jimmy Saville inquiry as 

well as Operation Fremont which are large scale 

police investigations into non recent abuse 

allegations.  The increase in organisations’ and 

professionals’ awareness of the LADO process 

has also brought an additional demand from 

agencies across the borough for training.  

 

During 2016 - 17 the multi-agency training has 

been delivered via the LSCB training programme 

in addition to single-agency presentations. In this 

period the LADO identified a clear need to 

promote the LADO role borough-wide and 

support awareness particularly amongst smaller 

organisations. 

. 

The new training programme has specifically 

targeted dance and drama groups, faith groups 

and after school clubs to ensure that awareness 

of the process reaches as many of the smaller 

organisations as possible. Demand for the 

training to date has been so high that four extra 

training days have been put on to meet demand. 

The training and awareness raising during 2016 - 

17 is likely to result in an ongoing increase in 

consultations and referrals to the LADO but will 

consequently improve practice in organisations 

and therefore provided greater safeguarding for 

children.  

 

There has been a focus this year on joint working 

with stakeholders in the Local Authority. Regular 

tri borough meetings now take place between the 

L.B. Havering, L.B Barking and Dagenham, L.B. 

Redbridge LADOs and the BHRUT safeguarding 

leads at Queen’s hospital, to explore any 

concerns or patterns in respect of local 

safeguarding issues. 

 

Regular meetings also take place between the 

LADO and Education Safeguarding Lead to 

discuss any identified safeguarding issues within 

specific schools, or areas, themes which may 

have emerged or concerns shared. This enables 

targeted training to be put in place in order to 

address this or support specific schools. 

 

A review was undertaken of the LADO forms. 

Following feedback by partner agencies an 

investigation guidance template has been 

designed following a request from education 

safeguarding leads. This is now sent out to all 

agencies that are required to undertake their own 

internal investigation. 

 

The Havering LADO has been an active member 

of the London LADO group and has been 

involved in discussions regarding the Chapter 7 – 

Managing Allegations Procedures within the 

London Child Protection Procedures.    

 

Page 75



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

25 

The data in the following report provides clear 

evidence of the increased change in demand on 

the LADO in this period, in relation to previous 

reporting years in Havering. 

Training & Development  

HSCB has offered a range of training courses for 

the borough’s multi-agency partners.  This 

training is available to all agencies and 

individuals in the borough who work to protect 

children and young people. 

During this 2016/17 there were a total of 59 

courses scheduled with a total of 1326 places 

available.  Of these places available, 905 

participants attended courses equating to 69.4% 

of capacity reached. The non-attendance fee that 

was implemented during the year generated 

£560. This is £1200 less than last year, due to no 

doubt to delegates being more aware of the 

charging process. 

 

Training Courses 

During this period 21 separate courses were 

scheduled.  Below is a breakdown of course 

attendance:  

 

The most attended course was Introduction to 

Safeguarding with 80 delegates attending. This 

remains the only level one course offered by 

HSCB and is accessible to a much larger 

delegate base who maybe non-specialist frontline 

staff for example, GP receptionists to SENCOs 

who are in need of a refresher course. This 

course has become very popular with the 

Chaperone Service who are required to attend 

training before they can be employed. 

 

Last year Effective Supervision was added to the 

training programme as one of the Board priorities 

but only achieved a 20% attendance rate. It is 

therefore heartening to see that this year 73 

delegates attended as opposed to only 9 last 

year, particularly as this remains the only two day 

course run by HSCB and delegate availability is 

sometimes difficult. 

 

Attendance by Organisation 

 

Delegates from Education and Children Services 

attended the most courses with 14% and 31% of 

attendees respectively.  This isn’t to say that this 

is a proportionate representation; we could be 

seeing the same repeat candidates attending the 

courses. BHRUT, Housing, CCG and Probation 

had the least representation with less than 1%. 

Professionals from these agencies may be 

attending safeguarding training internally, they 

may feel the training is not suited to them or may 

not have the time or inclination to attend.  

 

Post Course Evaluations 

 

Each candidate is required to complete the post-

course evaluation 4-8 weeks post training to 

evaluate how the training has impacted the way 

in which they work with children and families.  

35% of delegates completed evaluations for this 

period, compared to 22% of last year.   

 

The completion of post course evaluations 

therefore remains a challenge and it might be  

worth considering carrying out ad hoc telephone 

evaluations. The evaluations that were 

completed were positive with 40% of delegates 

stating that their knowledge had improved from 

some knowledge to a good level and 20% stating 

that their knowledge had progressed from good 

to high. 27% of delegates said that their 

knowledge remained the same. 

 

 

Page 76



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

26 

Safeguarding Week 

 

The first Annual Safeguarding Week took place 

in October 2016. The week consisted of 36 

briefings ranging from 45 minutes to two hours 

and two annual all day conferences.  The events, 

17 for children and 14 for adults, provided 

safeguarding advice and awareness to 

professionals and those in the voluntary and faith 

sectors, working with both adults and children. 

Seven events were both children and adults 

focussed. The majority of events reached 80% 

capacity with five events being oversubscribed 

and overall feedback was good. Over 700 

delegates attended throughout the week.   

 

SECTION 3 

Board Sub Groups  

Quality and Effectiveness 

Working Group 

 

Summary of Work Group Purpose  

Working Together (2015) sets out the 

requirement for each LSCB to have in place 

processes to monitor and challenge the 

effectiveness of the safeguarding offer to children 

across the spectrum of need:   

In order to fulfil its statutory function 

under regulation 5 a LSCB should use 

data and, as a minimum, should:  

 assess the effectiveness of the help being 

provided to children and families, including early 

help;  

 assess whether LSCB partners are fulfilling their 

statutory obligations set out in chapter 2 of this 

guidance;  

 quality assure practice, including through joint 

audits of case files involving practitioners and 

identifying lessons to be learned; and  

 monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of 

training, including multi-agency training, to 

safeguard and promote the welfare of children.  

Working Together 2015 

 

CYP Quality & Effectiveness working group  

The working group provides overview and 

scrutiny to the work undertaken by the HSCB 

partners to safeguard children within Havering.  

The objectives of the group as set out within the 

HSCB Business Plan 2015-2018 are: 

 Monitor and analyse performance against 

defined HSCB targets and objectives utilising 

learning from key strategic drives including 

MASH, Early Help processes, Alcohol 

reduction strategy, HWBB, JSNA, CSP, 

VAWG strategy, Serious Youth Violence 

strategy, CSE strategy. 

 Collate data to inform HSCB priorities. 

 Monitor safeguarding practices and systems 

through an annual self-assessment audit of 

s11 (CA2004) compliance. 

 Identify and provide robust evidence for 

performance improvement. 

 Develop a multi-agency audit programme 

and undertake multi-agency audits and 

report findings to Havering LSCB. 

 To receive reports on single agency audit 

activity and scrutinise findings. 

 Report on the effectiveness of inter-agency 

working re safeguarding. 

 

Page 77



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

27 

The Quality & Effectiveness working group has 

been extremely active in promoting the objectives 

identified above.  A highlight of the group’s 

activity is set out below: 

Audits completed by multi-agency partners:  

 CSE audit following the peer review:  the 

findings from this supported the direction 

of CSE activity within Havering 

 LAC missing audit as previously 

discussed.   

 MASH multi-agency audit 

Some observations / questions from the audit 

activity were: 

 Is feedback sent to the referrer and is this 

recorded? CSC noted that feedback had 

been given however for the two cases where 

the GP had completed the MARF, CCG 

noted that feedback had not been received. 

 There was no evidence of the outcome of the 

referral being fed back to the referrer or 

Partners.  

 There wasn’t clear evidence of the threshold 

document being applied to evidence decision 

making / feedback to partners.   

 SW making the MASH decision and Group 

Manager reviewing Discussions between the 

Managers and Social Workers are not 

always clearly recorded even though they 

are taking place. 

 

The audit of MASH was undertaken prior to 

changes that were made to MASH processes 

following the lean review and the subsequent 

MASH review.  The audit was a helpful 

benchmark to assist the partnership to better 

understand the impact of changes made within 

MASH on improved processes when delivering 

services and working effectively with partners.  A 

further audit of MASH to include the uptake and 

application of threshold when referring cases to 

MASH will be undertaken in September 2016 

Group activity 

A dataset workshop was held in December 2015 

and a HSCB dataset was agreed by the 

partnership:  this will be implemented in April 

2016 and reported biannually.  All partners have 

agreed to contribute to the agreed performance 

pack.  The Q&E group will oversee 

implementation of this and ensure all agencies 

provide data as required.   

The group has focussed on Child Protection 

processes and how best to ensure the correct 

practitioners attend conferences and core groups 

to ensure that all information known about the 

child is discussed, and that professionals do not 

attend with little knowledge of the family.  This 

continues to be a focus for the group and 

updates are provided by NELFT and the Principal 

Social Worker regarding the impact on improved 

outcomes in relation to changes made.  

Self-Harm has been an area of scrutiny for the 

group:  The group requested BHRUT provide 

information regarding children and young people 

that present to A&E with symptoms of self-harm.  

This is on-going and is being progressed by 

BHRUT and CCG. 

LAC children medicals has identified as a risk 

and action to address this is being led by CCG 

with support from C&YP services 

Priority areas for the group over the next 

six months 

Develop and agree an audit programme for 

2016-17 that is achievable and is focused on the 

key priorities of the HSCB in order to support the 

Page 78



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

28 

Board to understand the effectiveness of the 

partnership in safeguarding children and young 

people.   

To continue to oversee the effectiveness of CP 

processes, identifying areas of strength and 

areas that require change / further scrutiny to 

improve the process so that it is meaningful and 

effective.   

To receive and analyse data in relation to 

safeguarding and report to the Board regarding 

the effectiveness of the partnership in 

safeguarding children and young people in 

Havering 

To progress the actions identified within the 

HSCB action plan 2016-17 on behalf of the 

HSCB Executive.   

Three  positive  achievements since last 

report. 

 New HSCB dataset agreed 

 

 Health participation within CP processes 

streamlined 

 

 Performance reports and data used to 

challenge and support partners in improving 

safeguarding processes.  This has included 

A&E activity and LAC health assessments. 

 

Long and short term risks and priorities  

The group is extremely busy with all delegates 

balancing competing work pressures and 

demands.  In order for the group to be effective, 

the work plan must be achievable and focused 

on themes that will provide meaningful and 

relevant information to partners in order to assist 

to understand the impact of services on 

outcomes.  Once agreed, partners must commit 

time and resources to progressing the audit 

programme 

 The revised HSCB dataset will require 

information from all partners to ensure that 

the data agreed as relevant and necessary 

by partners is submitted in a format that can 

be understood with clear narrative to assist 

the group to understand and analyse the 

information. 

 

 Balancing national and local priorities in an 

environment that can at times be politically 

driven, so that any change in direction is not 

reactive but considered and thought through. 

    

Future actions to address these 

 The work plan will contain four multi-agency 

audits plus one audit that is longitudinal to 

follow families through child protection 

processes.  This will be embedded within 

usual business processes of organisations to 

limit the impact of additional workloads.   

 

 Open and transparent discussion will assist 

to identify gaps or pressures that may impact 

on the timely submission of data so that 

action can be taken to address this in a 

timely way. 

 

 The group must be led by the Operational 

and Executive Boards whilst reporting 

information to assist the board to agree the 

direction of travel.  Emerging themes and 

priorities must be considered by the 

Executive and Operational to reduce the 

likelihood of the group reviewing vast 

amounts, which may reduce the level of 

positive impact on the outputs from the 

group.  

 

Page 79



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

29 

Transitions sub group 

 
The Transitions sub group supports both the 

HSAB and HSCB.  The role and purpose of the 

group is to review current children to adult 

services transitions policies and procedures in 

health and local authority services and to audit 

compliance with existing policies and procedures, 

highlighting and sharing good practice initiatives 

and to disseminate learning from policy and 

practice reviews. The group is chaired by a 

member of NELFT’s SMT and the vice chair is 

from the London Borough of Havering 

(Community Safety Team Leader). 

In February 2017, the group organised a major 

Child to Adult Transition conference. Young 

people from the Sycamore Trust (a charity that 

aims to educate the community and empower 

individuals affected by Autistic Spectrum 

Disorders and/or Learning Difficulties) gave first-

hand experience of the strengths and 

weaknesses of the support they received at 

various points of transition including primary 

education, secondary education, further 

education, employment and independent living. 

In addition, presentations by practitioners 

covered current legislation, policies and guidance 

that related to transition and workshops explored 

improvements that could be made around: how 

partners and agencies work together to improve 

transition, transition and safeguarding and 

involving service users effectively in making 

meaningful transitions. This event will be built on 

by the HSAB in 2017-18, with a major event on a 

similar theme planned for May 2017. 

 

 

Board Governance and 

structure and finance 

Governance 

The HSCB is chaired by an Independent Chair; 

the appointment was made by a panel of HSCB 

members, which was chaired by the Chief 

Executive.  The Independent Chair holds regular 

meetings with the Lead Member for Children 

Safeguarding, the Chief Executive and the 

Director of Children, Adults and Housing.  The 

purpose of each meeting is to hold the 

Independent Chair to account for the 

effectiveness of the HSCB and to provide space 

to ensure open and honest discourse between 

the Director of Children Services and the 

Independent Chair regarding the service activity 

as it relates to children’s safeguarding within 

Havering.   

The Nurse Director, Barking & Dagenham, 

Havering & Redbridge CCG is Vice Chair to 

Havering SCB; regular discussion is held 

between the Independent Chair and the Vice 

Chair.  

All statutory partners are represented at the 

HSCB at an appropriate level and actively 

participate within the business of the Board.. 

There has been difficulty in securing / 

maintaining regular attendance from NHS 

England and CAFCAS.  The impact of this has 

meant strategic insight in to NHS England 

priorities and direction of travel specifically in 

relation to GPs is missing from Board discussion.  

CAFCAS is significant because of its work with 

the most vulnerable children within Havering and 

the knowledge it holds from both local and 

national perspective.   

Page 80



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

30 

The structure of Havering’s SCB was reviewed 

during 2015 in order to strengthen governance 

processes to support the Board to manage 

business priorities more effectively as the 

Board’s responsibilities increased.   

Structure 

Executive Board 

The Executive Board is chaired by the 

Independent chair; it has a small membership 

consisting of the strategic leads from all statutory 

partners and holds ultimate responsibility for the 

effectiveness of the multi-agency safeguarding 

offer to children and young people in Havering.   

The Executive Board formally agrees  

 Business priorities of the board and the 

business plan 

 The annual report 

 Final overview reports and recommendations 

from SCRs 

 Action plans to respond to SCR / LR 

recommendations 

 Actions to respond to Board risks and the 

responsible working group / partner 

organisation to progress the actions. 

Operational Board 

The Operational Board is chaired by the 

Independent Chair and has senior staff with links 

to practice within the membership.  All members 

actively participate within the discussions and 

this is evidenced within minutes of meetings.  

The Operational Board’s agenda includes both 

children and adult priorities to ensure that cross 

cutting priorities are considered by both strategic 

boards. 

The Operational Board is in place to provide 

overview and scrutiny of the progress of HSCB / 

SAB Business plan priorities and to provide 

assurance to the SA / SC Executive Boards in 

relation to the progress of business plan 

objectives.  Concerns that are identified  by the 

Operational board and HSCB working groups in 

relation to the effectiveness of the safeguarding 

offer are added to the HSCB /SAB risk register, 

monitored by the Operational and reported to the 

Executive Boards.    

Progress of the HSCB action plan is monitored 

by the Operational Board.  The Operational 

Board drafts the Executive Board agenda to 

ensure that it is appropriately focused on relevant 

areas of business.   

Operational Board minutes are circulated to 

Executive Board to allow for scrutiny and 

challenge of business activities.   

Working group activity is overseen by the 

Operational group 

Quality & Effectiveness working group 

The Q&E group is chaired by a member of 

NELFT’s SMT and all organisations except CAIT 

are represented.  All members participate fully 

within meetings, identifying areas of risk and 

areas that require further scrutiny.  These are 

progressed by the group and also raised at the 

Operational / Executive level 

Case Review working group  

The Case Review Working group is chaired by a 

member of NELFT’s SMT and all partner 

organisations are represented at the meetings.  

The group has considered and progressed SCRs 

and LR and overseen the implementation of 

action plans.  Drift in progress of actions has 

been escalated to the Executive and a decision 

made for the Executive leads to hold 

responsibility for the progression and 

implementation of action plans.   

Page 81



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

31 

 

Child Sexual Exploitation working group 

This group is chaired by the Director of Children 

and Young People Services and has 

representation from all key partners who actively 

participate within discussion and decision 

making.  

HSCB Risk Register  

The HSCB risk register holds the areas identified 

by the Board as requiring oversight in order to 

progress actions quickly to reduce risks.  The risk 

register is owned by the Executive and activity 

progressed through the working groups and 

operational board.  The risk register is rag rated 

to include impact of activities agreed to mitigate 

risk and is a standing agenda item at every 

HSCB group meeting and is used by the 

Independent chair to inform discussions held with 

the lead member and meetings with senior 

strategic leads from the partnership.   

Annual report 

The HSCB publishes an annual report.  The 

report is presented to the Havering Health & Well 

Being Board and Overview and Scrutiny by the 

Independent Chair.  The report is sent 

electronically to MOPAC, Chief Executive and 

London Councils and held on the HSCB website. 

LSCB Financial Contributions 

HSCB is funded under arrangements arising from 

Section 15 of Children Act 2004. The contribution 

made by each member organisation is agreed 

locally. The member organisations’ shared 

responsibilities for the discharge of the HSCB’s 

functions include deterring how the resources  

are  provided to support it. 

During the financial year 2014-2015 the largest 

proportion of the budget was spent on:  

 Staffing £108,519  

 Havering’s independent chair £17,835.   

 Multi-agency training programme 

£25,000, which included classroom 

based learning and a conference. 

The budget agreed for 2015/16 was comprised of 

contributions from the key partner agencies 

represented on the Board and in all cases except 

Havering Council, which increased its 

contribution, is the same as the previous three 

years. 

Name of Agency Contribution 15/16 

Havering Council £121,640.00 

Police  £5,000.00 

London Fire 

Brigade   £500 

CCG £28,706.49 

BHRUT £4,778.33 

NELFT £4,778.33 

National 

Probation Service £800 

The London 

Rehabilitation  

Company £1000.00 

CAFCASS £567.13 

Total  £167, 465.30 

  

The projected contributions from partner 

agencies total £167,465.30.  This budget 

excludes the additional contribution required to 

finance The Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) 

statutory requirements.  The CDOP was funded 

by contributions from Health and Children Social 

Care and covers all CDOP processes.  CDOP 

costs for the year were £44,465  

The HSCB had a carry forward from the previous 

year of £10,000. 

Page 82



HLSCB Annual Report 2016-2017 

 

 | P a g e  
 

32 

Staffing and Support  

Board staffing has remained stable over the year. 

A business manager, training and development 

officer and an administrator are in place to assist 

the board in achieving agreed priorities.  The 

Board is chaired by an independent person.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 83



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 33 

APPENDIX   

Single agency successes and areas for further 

improvement  

In preparation of this annual report each agency represented on the board except 

Havering Council Children and Young People Services, which is intrinsically incorporated 

throughout the body of this report, were requested to submit a report setting out their 

individual successes and areas for future improvement.   

 

This section will set out the agencies identified risks and challenges and their actions and 

priorities for the year 2016 to 2017 

 

Havering Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 

Brief summary of service as it relates to safeguarding children: Havering Clinical 

Commissioning Group (CCG) is part of Barking & Dagenham, Havering and Redbridge Clinical 

Commissioning Group Conglomerate – BHR CCGs 

Havering CCG commissions services for children within Havering through children health 

services providers namely BHRUT and NELFT. Havering CCG places safeguarding children high 

on the board agenda and this is reflected within the structures and roles and responsibility of 

senior staff. The CCG safeguarding structure is established across Barking, Havering and 

Redbridge BHR CCGs where the CCG Accountable Officer has overall responsibility for 

safeguarding within BHR CCGs Governing Body 

The safeguarding accountabilities are discharged through the delegation of responsibilities to the 

Board Nurse Director and is supported by the Deputy Nurse Director. The Chief Operating Officer 

(COO) within each CCG is the operational lead for ensuring implementation of safeguarding 

functions supported by the CCG designated professionals for safeguarding. For Havering CCG a 

Designated Nurse and a Designated Doctor for safeguarding children have been appointed to 

provide a strategic and professional lead on all aspects of the health service contributing to 

safeguarding children across the health economy in Havering. 

Review of Safeguarding Activity 2016-17 

 Recruitment to the vacant post of Designated Nurse for Safeguarding Children and 

Looked After Children (previously separate roles for safeguarding and LAC) 

 Development and implementation of a safeguarding children supervision policy 

 Development of a domestic abuse policy 

 Refresh of the safeguarding children and adults strategy 2017-2020 

 Working closely with to local authority to improve the timescales and quality of initial 

health assessments for looked after children 

Page 84



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 34 

 Implementation of a safeguarding children allegations against staff policy 

 Development of a PREVENT policy 

 

Individual agency responses to key risks and priorities 

Please identify the specific contributions that your agency has made to the priorities 

below and explain how you know that the work that your agency is doing is effective.   

Workforce and staff 

sufficiency 

 

 

There was a service review of the safeguarding team within the CCG 

which resulted in combining the safeguarding and LAC functions into 

one role. The post was recruited to in January 2017 and the post holder 

commenced in May 2017. The post is a statutory function as outlined in 

the intercollegiate guidance 2014. 

Inter-agency 

thresholds and 

escalation of 

decision making  

The LSCB has an escalation policy in place which requires the 

multiagency to escalate to the CCG cases of concern. Work has been 

undertaken in partnership with providers to enable data collection 

around case escalation. 

Private Fostering 

 

Plans are underway to address the issue of private fostering at the 

Havering safeguarding GP forum in July 2017. 

Child Sexual 

Exploitation 

 

The Designated Nurse for safeguarding children attends the CSE and 

Missing panels to influence the delivery on the CSE agenda from a 

strategic and operational point of view. BHR CCGs has an identified 

CSE champion. 

Violence against 

women and girls 

The CCG has developed a domestic abuse policy for their workforce 

and is actively engaging with the VAWG work-stream. 

Child and 

adolescent mental 

health. 

The CCG is currently undertaking a CAMHS transformation program of 

work to ensure that mental health services for children and young 

people is fit for purpose, safe and effective.  

Learning from 

SCRS 

 

 

The CCG has engaged with partners to ensure that there has been the 

necessary participation in serious case reviews and their learning 

events. Updates on outstanding action plans are monitored via the 

CQRM platform to ensure scrutiny. The CCG has also engaged with 

primary care to share the learning from serious case reviews. 

 

 

 

Page 85



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 35 

 

Identify the expected impact on outcomes of the agency responses to the key 

risks and priorities. 

Impact outcomes  

Within your agency 

 

The safeguarding team is currently in the process of refreshing the 

safeguarding strategy to strengthen the embedding of safeguarding into 

the commissioning cycle. It is anticipated that this will lead to increased 

assurance that commissioned services are safe and effective.  

Contribution to 

multi-agency 

working  

 

A number of HSCB work-streams have not had representation by the 

CCG due to vacant posts and capacity issues. However, since the 

recruitment of a substantive designated nurse, these work-streams are 

now covered to further build upon multiagency working.   

  

Example of Effective/Emerging Practice  

 

The implementation of the CP-YP system within the local authority and provider 

organisations. 

 

 

Metropolitan Police 

 

Brief summary of service as it relates to safeguarding children 

 

The Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) has a dedicated Sexual Offences, Exploitation, Child 

Abuse Command (SOECAC). The local CAIT team (covering Barking & Dagenham and 

Havering) is managed by Detective Inspector Kevin Jeffery. The Borough Commander for the 

local police is T/Chief Superintendent Sean Wilson. 

Operationally each part of SOECAC still functions within their area of expertise but they are 

merged within supporting units (partnership, intelligence, continuous improvement teams (CIT) & 

proactivity). 

Within the broad functions of crime prevention, crime detection and assistance provided for risk 

assessments, Child Abuse Investigation Teams have several distinct functions. Whatever the 

function, the basic principle: 'THE WELFARE OF THE CHILD IS PARAMOUNT' is always 

the primary consideration in any decision made or action undertaken. 

Page 86



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 36 

All allegations of crime within the scope of 'child abuse' (victims under 18) are recorded & 

investigated in co-operation with Local Authorities and other appropriate agencies: Intra-familial 

abuse, Professional abuse, Other carers, Non recent allegations, Parental Abduction 

and SUDI investigations. 

Children at risk of significant harm are identified by police officers through robust risk 

assessments and reports from Children’s Social Care. Risks for children living within domestic 

violence households are reduced and minimised as Police have a good awareness of the impact 

this has on the emotional well- being of children.  

Joint investigations undertaken by the CAIT and Children’s Social Care are underpinned by 

strong working relationships between both agencies. Strategy discussions are timely and actions 

match the risk accordingly.  

CAIT attendance and contribution to Initial Child Protection Conferences (ICPC) and Review 

Case Conferences (RCC) ensures risks are identified and responded to immediately.  

All CAIT staff are required to complete the Specialist Child Abuse Investigators Development 

Programme (SCAIDP) and Achieving Best Evidence (ABE) training. 

The local borough police for Barking and Dagenham have the responsibility for identifying and 

reporting Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE). 

Review of Safeguarding Activity 

The MPS has standing operating procedures that dictate how officers and police staff should deal 

with safeguarding concerns. 

Barking & Dagenham CAIT and borough police have a strong working relationship with other 

safeguarding partnership agencies (Child Social Care, Education, Health etc). They also have a 

dedicated team of police staff deployed to represent the MPS at case conferences and to 

produce reports for them. 

There has been improved input and understanding of the Child Risk Assessment Matrix (CRAM). 

This is the research conducted into every CAIT allegation to ensure any direct or potential risk to 

children can be managed and strategies implemented. 

CAIT’s are subjected to inspection by the Continuance Improvement Team (CIT) on an annual 

basis. 

Borough police have a Multi- Agency Sexual Exploitation (MASE) meeting every month to discuss 

all new cases on a monthly basis with all agencies represented. Borough police are also part of 

the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH), which is the front door for all children safeguarding 

issues for the borough.  

 

Page 87



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 37 

 

How has the organisation contributed to the Havering SCB vision statement and 

strategic aims 

The MPS work in close partnership with social services, exchanging information to improve and 

protect children within the borough. CAIT officers are trained to a high standard with personalised 

training packages. Police proactively act on referrals to police to intervene at the earliest 

opportunity and attend all meetings in line with safeguarding policies and working together 

agreement 2015.   

Long and short term risks and priorities 

The main issue facing CAIT in the past year has been a lack of trained police staff to cope 

with the rise in reported incidents. This has impacted on performance and particularly child 

protection case conference attendance. 

 

In the short term Barking & Dagenham and Havering CAIT has catered for this by utilising 

police officers & civil investigators working on attachment. The long term goal is to 

increase trained staff and CAIT is in the process of recruiting more police officers to fill 

vacancies. This will continue to be monitored as crime and staff workloads increase. 

 

Actions to be taken to address the risks and expected impact on outcomes 

The key area for CAIT is to develop case conferencing by video / telephone link to 

improve CAIT input within conferences. CAIT and partnership agencies have seen a 

marked increase in demand of their services. CAIT continue to try and meet the challenge 

of case conference attendance by finding an effective way to improve CAIT input and 

engagement.  

Under the One Met Model (OMM) from 27
th
 March 2017 police units are being brought 

under one unit called, Safeguarding, East Area, Basic Command Unit. This will consist of 

three boroughs, Barking & Dagenham, Havering and Redbridge. CAIT, Sapphire (adult 

rapes), Domestic Abuse teams, CAIT referrals, MASH and Mispers will sit in one team. 

There will be a total of four Investigation teams, each team responsibility sitting with a 

Detective Inspector and consisting of three Domestic Abuse Teams, one Sapphire Team 

and one CAIT. This is in its infancy stage and will evolve to provide a new service having 

a front door for all crimes. 

Effective/Emerging Practice 

The new Pathfinder site of the OMM has been in operation since 27
th
 March 2017 and still 

in its infancy stage. This is going to be reviewed in September 2017. 

 

Page 88



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 38 

 

Barking Havering and Redbridge University Hospital Trust (BHRUT)   

Brief summary of service as it relates to safeguarding children:  

Barking, Havering & Redbridge University Hospitals NHS Trust (BHRUT) is an acute hospital 

Trust situated in the North East of London.  The Trust serves the London Boroughs of Barking 

and Dagenham, Havering and Redbridge and the county of Essex.  The Trust serves a 

demographically diverse population of around 750,000 in outer North East London of people from 

a wide range of social and ethnic groups.  This consists of Barking and Dagenham 202,000, 

Havering 249,100 and Redbridge 296,800. 

The Trust meets all 8 standards of Section 11 Children’s Act (2004). In this reporting period the 

Trust completed a Self-Assessment Audit Tool to for a neighbouring Local Safeguarding 

Children’s Board to demonstrate its commitment in meeting statutory requirements.  The item rag 

rated as amber below, Standard Three relates to a protocol which is awaiting publication by 

Havering LSCB.  The Trust awaits receipt of this protocol.  The Trust last completed and 

submitted a Section 11 Self-Assessment to Havering Local Safeguarding Children’s Board in 

August 2016.  

Standard  Description  RAG  

1 Senior  Management  commitment to the 

importance of safeguarding and promoting 

children’s welfare 

Green – Actions Completed  

2 Clear statement of the agency  responsibility 

towards children and this is available to all staff 

Green –Actions Completed  

3 A clear line of accountability within the 

organisation  for work on safeguarding and 

promoting welfare and is informed, where 

appropriate, by the views of children and 

families 

Amber – Action in 

progress.  A protocol is 

awaiting publication by  

Havering LSCB relating to  

a SCR  

4 Service development takes into  account the 

views of children and families  

Green –Actions Completed 

5 Effectiveness of Training Green –Actions Completed  

6  Safer  Recruitment Green –Actions Completed  

7 Multi –Agency Working  Green –Actions Completed  

Page 89



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 39 

8 Effective Information Sharing  Green –Actions Completed  

 

Review of Safeguarding Activity 2016-2017  

 

Safeguarding Children priorities are highlighted in the BHRUT Safeguarding Children Annual 

Report 2016/17. BHRUT has an overarching Safeguarding Children Strategy 2016-2018. 

Progress on the strategy is discussed quarterly at the Trust’s Safeguarding Strategic and 

Assurance Group.  In 2016/17, the key priorities were as identified below.  The Safeguarding 

Children team achieved all key priorities identified within the 2017 strategy objectives.  

 Continue to provide safeguarding training through all levels (1, 2 & 3) of safeguarding 

children’s training 

 Safeguarding children supervision training will be provided to identified staff and supervision 

will be cascaded across the Trust by Named Safeguarding Professionals and supported by 

trained Safeguarding Children Supervisors who have undertaken a formal supervision 

programme 

 Safeguarding children and maternity audits will continue quarterly to include audits within 

Maternity, Emergency Department, Human Resources, Sexual Health and Paediatrics. 

Learning will be disseminated as a result of the audits and practice change will be embedded 

 Obtaining the ‘Voice of the child’ in addition to the Trust Family and Friends questionnaire 

 Implement a daily planner for children with autism and learning disabilities to provide a 

structure of what to expect while in hospital 

 Increase awareness of autism across the organisation 

 The Trust will continue to work with all partner agencies to ensure the needs and welfare of 

children and young people are met 

 The Trust will continue to fulfil its duties under Section 11 of the children Act 2004 and 

demonstrate it by reviewing the Section 11 audit tool across all three boroughs 

 Ensure that the recommendations arising from the Lampard review are fully implemented and 

embedded locally 

 Maintain a focus on Child Sexual Exploitation, Female Genital Mutilation, Modern Day 

Slavery, Human Trafficking, Forced Marriage and PREVENT 

 Ensure the Trust is compliant with safer recruitment processes, particularly around external 

contractors 

 Implement the Child Protection Information Sharing system (CP-IS)  

 Continue to fulfil statutory requirements to participate in multi-agency case reviews, serious 

case reviews, as identified by the respective safeguarding boards and also to Domestic 

Homicide Reviews (DHR) as Identified by the Home Office and Community Safety 

Partnership Trusts 

 Continue to raise awareness of and ensure robust arrangements are developed and in place, 

to address the risk of harm associated with both national and local issues such as human 

Page 90



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 40 

trafficking, child sexual exploitation, missing children, radicalisation of vulnerable individuals, 

female genital mutilation and domestic abuse 

 

How has your agency utilised the views of children, young people, parents and 

carers to improve services?  

At the point of discharge, children/young people/parents are given a questionnaire to complete 

which includes the Friends & Family Test question.  The Paediatric Department has established 

two meetings every month at which children, young people and parents/carers are invited to 

review/develop information leaflets.  Concerns, areas for development and issues are also raised 

by children/parents at this meeting.  

The Trust obtains the views of children, young people, parents and carers via the 'Voice of the 

Child' surveys which are undertaken as per the Trust's Safeguarding audit schedule.  Children, 

young people, parents and carers are encouraged to raise any unmet needs with their named 

nurse, ward manager, matron or medical staff, or the PALS and/or Complaints teams if local 

resolution fails. Every opportunity is taken to resolve immediately anything that is raised.  All 

meetings are documented in the child’s health care records with the resolution plan.  All patient 

feedback is acted upon and staff are briefed weekly through the ward safety brief of any concerns 

or changes in practice to improve patient outcomes. In 2017/18 the Child Health Division is 

establishing a Children and Young Peoples Trust Operational Group and a Strategy Group, to 

shape the future of the children’s services within the Trust.  

How has the organisation contributed to the Havering SCB vision statement and 

strategic aims?  

Vision Statement 

 Keeping children and young people safe is the Havering Safeguarding Children’s Board 

overarching priority. All partnership agencies are committed to raising safeguarding standards 

and improving outcomes for all the children and young people of Havering.  

 The Chief Nurse is a member of tri-borough LSCB's. Divisional representatives are members 

of all Trust safeguarding groups.  

 The Named Nurse, Safeguarding Children is an active member of the Havering Quality and 

Effectiveness meeting and Case Review Working Group, and attends/supports Multi Agency 

Sexual Exploitation meetings, Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) meetings.  The 

Safeguarding Advisor for Learning Disabilities and Autism is a representative of Havering 

Positive Parents Group.  The Named Doctor for Child Protection, Paediatric Liaison Nurse, 

and Deputy Named Midwife attend Child Death Overview Panel Meetings.  

 The Trust participated in Havering LSCB Audit programme in the reporting period of 2016-

2017. The Trust also undertook all audits as identified within the Trusts Audit schedule in 

2016-2017 and findings were reported to Havering LSCB via the Havering Multi Agency Audit 

Tracker. 

Page 91



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 41 

 The Trust has actively participated in 1 Practitioner Learning Event relating to a Havering 

Serious Case Review (publication outstanding), and an additional Serious Case Review 

(Embargoed during this reporting period).  

 Learning from Incidents/Practice/Serious Case Reviews/Domestic Homicide Reviews are 

shared with staff at the Trust’s Safeguarding Children Operational Group and Strategic and 

Assurance Group meetings, Patient Safety Summits, Supervision and Bulletins. 

 

Six Strategic Aims  

Ensure that the partnership provides an effective child protection service to all children and young 

people ensuring that all statutory functions are completed to the highest standards. 

Section 11 audits serve as a benchmark to ensure the highest standards are met in providing an 

effective safeguarding  services.  The Trust has completed in this reporting period a Self-

Assessment Tool to demonstrate its commitment in meeting statutory requirements as set out 

within Children’s Act (2004). The Trust has an action plan in place to progress an item relating to 

imbedding a protocol when published by Havering LSCB.  

Monitor the effectiveness of the multi-agency early offer to help to children and 

young people in Havering. 

The Trust actively monitors the number of pre-CAF requests made to the London Borough of 

Havering, and this is included within the Trust’s monthly dashboard. Performance data is 

discussed at the Trust’s Safeguarding Children Operational Group and risks reported to the 

quarterly Safeguarding Strategic and Assurance Group. The Safeguarding team regularly 

promote the HSCB Threshold and Assessment Protocol with staff during contact and supervision.  

This protocol is accessible on the Trust’s intranet for all staff to access. 

Ensure that agencies work together to provide the most vulnerable children and 

young people with the correct help at the right time. 

The Trust actively supports the LSCB Sub-groups to ensure all children are effectively 

safeguarded.  The Trust supports the following HSCB Sub-Groups meetings: 

 Safeguarding Children Operational Board  

 Multi Agency Sexual Exploitation Group  

 Child Death Overview Panel  

 Violence against Women and Girls  

 Quality and Effectiveness Working Group  

 Case Review Working Groups  

 Positive Parents  

 Team Around the Family Meetings  

 Serious Case Review/ Domestic  Homicide Review Panel meetings  

 Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) Strategy meetings  

Page 92



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 42 

 

Ensuring an integrated multi-agency approach to respond to emerging themes 

and priorities. Identified by the Board and through national learning. 

The Trust has a Safeguarding Children and Adults Amalgamated Serious Case Review/ 

Safeguarding Adult Review/Case Learning Review Action Plan.  Reports are provided to the 

Safeguarding Children Operational Group, Safeguarding Strategic and Assurance Group and 

Part 2 of the Trust Board (Confidential).  

Assuring the quality of safeguarding and child protection to the wider community. 

The Trust utilises the Section 11 Audit Tool as a framework for quality assurance.  The tool is 

shared with the CCG at CQRM meetings, and all action plans pertaining to the tool are discussed 

with relevant LSCB.  The Trust last submitted a Section 11 Tool to Havering LSCB in August 

2016.  

Ensure that learning is acted upon and embedded in practice across all partner 

organisations. 

The Named Nurse, Safeguarding Children is a member of the Havering Case Review Working 

Group and attends quarterly meetings in conjunction with Serious Case Review Panel meetings.  

The Deputy Chief Nurse, Safeguarding and Harm Free Care also supports attendance at Serious 

Case Review (SCR) Panel meetings. 

Regular reports relating to Serious Case Reviews, Domestic Homicide Review (DHR) /Case 

Learning Reviews (CLR) are presented and discussed at the Safeguarding Children Operational 

Group, Safeguarding Strategic and Assurance Group and Trust Board (Part 2). 

In addition to this, since August 2016 Safeguarding Children cases are presented for discussion 

at the Trust’s monthly Safeguarding Children’s Operational Group meeting. This is followed by 

the Trust wide circulation of a Safeguarding Bulletin which shares the lessons learnt and good 

practice of safeguarding cases/incidents. 

Individual agency responses to key risks and priorities. 

Please identify the specific contributions that your agency has made to the priorities below and 

explain how you know that the work that your agency is doing is effective.   

Workforce and staff 

sufficiency 

 

 

The Safeguarding Children’s Team was fully established during 

the reporting period, and comprises of: 

 Named Doctor for Safeguarding Children (3 PAs) 

 Named Nurse for Safeguarding Children (1.0 WTE) 

 Deputy Named Midwife, Safeguarding (1.0 WTE) 

 Two Paediatric Liaison Nurses, Safeguarding Children (2.0 WTE) 

Page 93



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 43 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Safeguarding Children’s Advisor, Learning Disability and  Autism 

(1.0 WTE) 

 Safeguarding Children’s Secretary (1.0 WTE) 

 

In July 2016, following the completion and approval of a 

Safeguarding Business Case, the Deputy Chief Nurse, 

Safeguarding and Harm Free Care, has progressed the 

appointment of a number of new posts: 

 Emergency Department Safeguarding Advisors (2.0 WTE) Queen’s 

and King George Hospitals 

 Safeguarding Advisor for Harmful Practices (FGM, CSE, Domestic 

Abuse) (1.0 WTE)  

 

As of 31 March 2017 recruitment into the following posts remains 

in progress: 

• Named Midwife, Safeguarding (1.0 WTE)  

• Safeguarding Office Manager (1.0 WTE) 

The Deputy Chief Nurse line manages the Named Nurse for 

Safeguarding Children, on behalf of the Chief Nurse who has 

executive responsibility for safeguarding.  

Inter-agency 

thresholds and 

escalation of 

decision making  

The Safeguarding Team regularly cascaded information relating to 

Havering Safeguarding Children Board Threshold and Assessment 

Protocol. This document is accessible to all staff via the Trust Intranet. 

This material is also promoted with staff at supervision. 

 

Private Fostering The Safeguarding Team regularly cascaded information relating to 

Private Fostering and all Havering Safeguarding Children’s Board 

9HSCB) promotional material i.e. 60 Second Guide etc is available on 

the Trust Intranet Web-site and is accessible to all staff. This material is 

also promoted with staff at supervision and is included within 

safeguarding training. 

 

Child Sexual 

Exploitation 

The Trust’s Named Nurse, Safeguarding Children is the Trust 

Champion for Child Sexual Exploitation.  The Trust continues to have 

quarterly CSE/FGM Lead meetings to advance this agenda. In this 

Page 94



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 44 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

reporting period partnership working was strengthened by including the 

Havering Domestic Violence /VAWG Officer and the Havering Strategic 

Lead for CSE and Missing at meetings.  

Child Sexual Exploitation awareness is incorporated within the level 1, 

2 and 3 Safeguarding Children training programmes. 

All staff have access to the Trust’s Intranet Child Sexual Exploitation 

webpage, which contains key information relating to this subject.  

The Trust’s Named Nurse, Safeguarding Children supports information 

sharing/attendance at tri-borough Multi Agency Sexual Exploitation 

(MASE) meetings for children identified at risk of CSE.   

The Trust has endorsed the Pan London Child Sexual Exploitation 

Operating Protocol (March 2015 2nd Edition) during this reporting 

period and has a Child Sexual Exploitation Policy in place since 

October 2016.  

CSE referrals are discussed at the Trust’s Safeguarding Children’s 

Operational and Safeguarding Strategic and Assurance Groups. 

The Safeguarding Team have appointed a Harmful Practices Advised 

following a successful business case in June 2016. This post holder will 

advance this agenda in 2017/18.  

 

Violence against 

women and girls 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Trust continues to have the support of the Independent Domestic 

Violence Advisor (IDVA) who works across sites at King George and 

Queen’s Hospitals to provide domestic violence and abuse (DV) 

support and advice to patients and staff affected by DV. The post is 

funded by the Mayor’s Office Policy and Crime (MOPAC) and the Trust 

is in its second year of the agreed contract. The Trust representative at 

Violence against Women and Children Strategic Group is the Deputy 

Named Midwife. 

The IDVA has regular input at DV training, which aims to raise 

awareness of the impact of DV not just on the person directly affected 

but also on the children and young people in the family; and of the 

services that are in place to support families.  The IDVA takes direct 

referrals from staff by email or phone and makes initial contact with a 

client within 24 hours but can attend a clinical area in case of 

immediate need.  

Page 95



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 45 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Community Midwives continue to represent the Trust at the monthly Tri-

Borough Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARAC), to 

ensure that information about cases of high risk domestic violence are 

safely and effectively shared to ensure services users are protected 

and measures put in place to safeguard.  

 

All women who book for antenatal care are offered ‘time to talk’ alone to 

discuss confidential matters which provides an opportunity for Midwives 

to ask about domestic violence and abuse.  An audit undertaken on DV 

presented at the Safeguarding Children Operational Group in this 

reporting period identified that the compliance with DV enquiry at 

booking, had increased from 94% in March 2016 to 98% in 2017. 

 

Child and 

adolescent mental 

health. 

In this reporting period the trust undertook two audits relating to Self-

Harm. Audit findings were shared with Havering Quality and 

Effectiveness Group.  

 

i. Audit to assess compliance with the Clinical Care Pathway for 

Management for Children presenting to the Emergency 

Department.  

This audit demonstrated that improvement and excellent progress 

was achieved in managing children presenting in the emergency 

departments following the introduction of the new clinical care 

pathway in 2014. The audit showed that there was collaborative 

working of various teams involved in care provision as well as 

excellent compliance with the new clinical care pathway for 

managing children with mental health illness in the emergency 

departments at Queens’s hospital. 

ii. Audit to assess compliance with the Clinical Care Pathway for 

Children who Self-Harm and live in the London Borough of  

Havering  

This audit identified that in the reporting period 2015-2016 30% 

children who attended the Emergency Departments at BHRUT with 

self-harm presentations resided in Havering. The audit 

demonstrated that the Voice of the Child was captured in all cases 

and the age varied from 12-17 years. The most common age 

Page 96



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 46 

ground was 15 years. All children were referred as per the Clinical 

Care Pathway to Mental Health Services, followed by a referral to 

Children’s Social Care.  

The Trust supports sharing information with Havering Quality and 

Effectiveness Group relating to the number of Children presenting to  

Emergency Departments  to  support Havering’s dataset  

 

Learning from 

SCRS 

 

 

Learning lessons from Serious Case Reviews and safeguarding 

children cases is undertaken in a number of forums which include the 

Trust Safeguarding Children Operational Group and Safeguarding 

Strategic and Assurance Groups.  Shared learning also takes place at 

the Trust’s, multi-professional Patient Safety Summits.  

 

 

Identify the expected impact on outcomes of the agency responses to the key 

risks and priorities. 

Impact outcomes  

Within your agency 

 

 

 

The key  Risks identified in this reporting period included  

Risk Number 746 – Availability and Access to Child Safeguarding 

Information.  The Trust implemented the Child Protection Information 

Sharing System (CP-IS) in October 2016.  This now enables staff in 

unscheduled care settings to be able to identify those children identified 

as vulnerable by Social Services, if they attend unscheduled care 

settings.  The impact of this is increased awareness of children subject 

to Child Protection Plans.  

Risk Number 543 – Safeguarding Training Compliance.  This was an 

identified risk during this reporting period to ensure that the Trust was 

meeting the key performance Indicator of 85%. This risk was removed 

as the workforce achieved the key performance indicator in September 

2016.  

Risk Number 859 – Named Professionals, i.e. Named Nurse 

Safeguarding Children, Named Midwife and Paediatric Liaison Nurse, 

not showing visible presence in clinical areas supporting staff. This 

remains an identified risk as of 31
st
 March 2017. 

In July 2016 , following the completion and approval of a Safeguarding 

Business Case, the Deputy Chief Nurse, Safeguarding and Harm Free 

Page 97



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 47 

Care, has progressed the appointment of a number of new posts: 

 Emergency Department Safeguarding Advisors (2.0 WTE) , 

Queen’s and King George Hospitals 

 Safeguarding Advisor for Harmful Practices (FGM, CSE, Domestic 

Abuse) (1.0 WTE)  

As of 31 March 2017 recruitment into the following posts remains in 

progress: 

• Named Midwife, Safeguarding (1.0 WTE)  

• Safeguarding Office Manager (1.0 WTE) 

It is anticipated that when the team is fully established the workforce 

will become more visible internally and externally and proactively drive 

the agenda forward.  

Risk 944 – Safeguarding Children Supervision. This risk was identified 

in this reporting period that the trust was not meeting its key 

performance indicator of 85%  In response to this, the Trust established 

a Task and Finish Group and revised its Safeguarding Supervision 

Policy to incorporate  a training needs analysis to identify and clarify the 

requirement of key staff.  The Trust has developed a detailed action 

plan outlining the actions to strengthen supervision in 2017/18.  

 

Contribution to 

multi-agency 

working  

 

In 2017-2018 some of the Key Priorities to multi-agency working  

include  

 Continue to review Section 11 (Children’s Act 1989/2004) 

requirements to ensure the Trust fulfils its responsibilities for 

Safeguarding Children 

 Share learning from Serious Case Reviews/Case Learning 

Reviews/Domestic Homicide Reviews, and evaluate the learning 

from monthly Safeguarding Bulletins 

 Embed Safeguarding Children Supervision across the organisation 

 Improve the Protection and Support of Children who are at risk of, 

or who have been, sexually exploited, and strengthen our work 

promoting a “Think Family” approach in identifying Child Sexual 

Exploitation (CSE) and Deliberate Self-Harm (DSH) 

 Improve the protection and support of children at risk of Harmful 

Practices, e.g. Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) and those living 

with Domestic Violence (DV) 

Page 98



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 48 

 Strengthen the Safeguarding of Children with Disabilities 

 Improve Operational Governance of Child Safeguarding Practice in 

Maternity and Sexual Health Services (CASH) to improve the 

quality of referrals made to Children’s Social Care and other 

Safeguarding Documentation 

 Promote awareness of Neglect and its relationship to other forms of 

harm to ensure better outcomes for children 

 Promote awareness of Private Fostering 

 Promote awareness of the Paediatric Liaison Nurse roles and 

develop an internal and external resource for staff/public 

 Review the scope of the project for the CP-IS system within the 

Maternity department.  

 

Example of Effective/Emerging Practice  

In this reporting period the Trust implemented the Child Protection Information System (CP-

IS) in unscheduled care settings.  This has enabled all staff in unscheduled care settings to 

see whether : 

 An unborn is the subject of a Child Protection Plan (CPP) 

 A child requiring treatment has a Child Protection Plan (CPP) 

 A child is a Looked After Child (LAC), regardless of where they live in England 

 

On 24 February 2017, the Trust underwent a review of the effectiveness of CP-IS by the CP-

IS Benefits Realisation Team NHS England.  The purpose of this review was to understand 

the impact CP-IS was having on frontline staff and whether CP-IS benefits have been realised 

for the organisation.  The findings identified that the business change process for 

implementing CP-IS was making good progress in becoming embedded within the existing 

safeguarding process and was working well in Emergency Departments and Paediatric areas.  

There were four recommendations arising from the review which the Corporate Safeguarding 

Team have actioned. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 99



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 49 

Children & Family Court Advisory & Support Service (CAFCASS) 

CAFCASS (the Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service) is a non-departmental 

public body sponsored by the Ministry of Justice. CAFCASS represents children in family court 

cases, ensuring that children's voices are heard and decisions are taken in their best interests. 

The demand on CAFCASS services grew once again in 2016/17, by around 13% in public law 

(involving the local authority) and 9% in private law (involving arrangements for children following 

parental separation). Demand is now approximately 30% higher in public law, and 20% higher in 

private law, than it was three years ago, putting the family justice system under considerable 

pressure. Nonetheless, each of CAFCASS Key Performance Indicators has been met.  

CAFCASS main priorities in 2016/17 were to continue to improve the quality of our work, and to 

support family justice reform. These are a few examples of how we have done this: 

Production of the  Domestic Abuse Practice Pathway which provides a structured framework 

for assessing cases where domestic abuse is a feature, and ten new evidence-based 

assessment tools.  

A revised Quality Assurance and Impact Framework, together with mechanisms to establish, 

and raise, the quality of our work including thematic audits, Area Quality Reviews, and the work of 

the National Improvement Service. 

Provision of continuous Learning and Development opportunities for staff including: e-learning; 

Research in Practice resources, the CAFCASS library and the dissemination of internal research.  

Contributions to innovations and family justice reform, designed to improve children’s 

outcomes and make family justice more efficient. These are formed in private law by projects 

trialling pre-court or out-of-court ways of resolving disputes; and in public law projects aimed at 

helping local authorities and parents to ‘find common ground’, thus diverting cases from or 

expediting  cases within, care proceedings.  

Support to our child exploitation and diversity ambassadors/champions who collate learning 

from inside and outside the organisation on these subjects and promote it to colleagues.  

The CAFCASS research programme which supports the work of external researchers, such as 

the ground-breaking work of Professor Karen Broadhurst and her team into repeat removals from 

mothers in care proceedings; and undertakes four small-scale internal research projects each 

year. This year we have undertaken, for example, studies into: domestic abuse in spend-time-

with (contact) applications (this has been in collaboration with Women’s Aid); trafficking and 

radicalisation cases known to us; and high conflict (rule 16.4) cases.    

 

 

Page 100



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 50 

Havering Young Offender Service (YOS)  

The Youth Offending Service (YOS) is a key partner in ensuring the safety of children and young 

people in Havering; specifically those children who find themselves involved in the Criminal 

Justice System.  Havering YOS supports young people to desist from offending as its primary 

function, and we assess and monitor any young person’s risk and vulnerability when they become 

known to us.  Within this process, we ensure their safeguarding both in terms of understanding 

what is going on within their family dynamic, and also what their movements are when they are at 

school, in the community and with friends. 

The Youth Offending sits in Early Help within the wider Children and Young People’s Services.  

The YOS is also overseen directly by central government in the wake of the Crime and Disorder 

Act 1998.  The overseeing body are the YJB, and our inspecting body is Her Majesty’s 

Inspectorate of Probation. The focus of all YOS’ has been designed by the YJB to support an 

offender-focussed desistance programme.  However, after the Charlie Taylor review of 2016, 

Havering YOS is beginning to review how its focus on offender-led assessments and 

interventions can also include whole-family-led assessments and interventions.  We hope that 

this will significantly improve the way we safeguard and interact with young people as our work 

will include looking at young people’s family history and any familial factors which contribute to 

their offending behaviour. 

The YOS joint works with children open to children’s services and the bridges being built between 

services is encouraging.  Under LASPO 2012 every young person who is remanded automatically 

becomes looked after, and we have worked closely on many occasions with our partners in social 

care to deliver joint-working to aid the effective use of time in prison, and also re-settlement as 

well. This arrangement promotes the safeguarding of children and young people who commit the 

most serious crimes. 

Havering YOS practitioners complete a holistic assessment of the young person, including their 

state of mind, learning needs, drug and alcohol use, family background living arrangements, the 

risk they pose in the community, and how vulnerable they are.  We establish this assessment of 

need using the multi-agency team that has been developed since the Crime and Disorder Act 

1998 made the YOS a legal entity.  Havering YOS ask our expert seconded staff to complete the 

relevant parts of the Asset Plus assessment overseen centrally by the YJB.  As such every young 

person who becomes known to our service will receive an assessment from our CAMHS nurse, 

Speech and Language Therapist and Drug and Alcohol worker.  This ensures we allow experts in 

their field support us to complete a correct assessment and safeguard appropriately as a result; 

tailoring interventions around each individual young person. 

After assessing a young person and understanding the factors which impact their safety, we look 

to intervene swiftly and with purpose to ensure the continued safety of young people with often 

complex needs.  For those who pose the highest risk in the community or are highly vulnerable 

we hold risk/vulnerability management panels.  These are multi-agency panels where all 

agencies involved in the young person and family’s life are invited to contribute to a holistic, 

Page 101



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 51 

whole family, multi-agency plan going forward.  This is to ensure that we minimise duplication and 

have clear roles and responsibilities for all agencies involved.  This significantly informs our plan 

of action to safeguard that young person and how to support their family. 

Recognise achievements and the progress that has been made in the local 

authority area as well as providing a realistic assessment of the challenges that 

still remain. 

YOS practitioners are highly trained individuals in supporting young people to desist from 

offending, and due to the multi-agency nature of our service; we prioritise what will be best for the 

young person in desisting from offending going forward.  If we are concerned regarding their 

safety, our first port of call would be to ensure, if there isn’t already, social care are involved 

where appropriate.  If we are concerned about a facet of their personhood that requires a referral, 

the YOS practitioners would refer as needed to joint work with another professional.  This is a key 

way that the YOS safeguards young people – we ensure the right professionals are involved at 

the right time, to ensure the right intervention when it is needed most. 

Havering YOS has a complex cohort of young people who can need intensive intervention.  

Because of gang affiliation, county lines drug running, and Child Sexual Exploitation concerns 

Havering YOS has trained its entire staff in CSE and also in how to deliver work with young 

people who display sexually harmful behaviour (AIM2 training).  YOS is represented at the CSE 

and missing panel, as well as on the oversight body for that panel, the MASE.  Havering YOS has 

looked to ensure both front-line and strategic aspects of its vision has incorporated the focus on 

CSE.  We often see CSE as a symptom of something else – trafficking, gang affiliation or drug-

running.  As such the YOS is a key partner in understanding the wider implications of CSE, and 

the associations it has with other risk-taking behaviour. 

Havering YOS has also taken into account the need to further understand neglect in light of the 

JTAI announced by Ofsted.  We have incorporated practice development in team meetings to 

ensure our staff  understand the effects of neglect, but also the cumulative factors that can build 

to causing a child significant harm without the intervention of the appropriate professionals. We 

have completed a review of assessments and added questions into supervision to ensure neglect 

is being accurately identified and understood as a key safeguarding concern, but also a cause of 

offending behaviour. 

Havering YOS has also identified and prioritised parenting support as a key way of ensuring 

adequate safeguarding of children in our service.  We have, as part of our Youth Justice Plan, a 

focus on ensuring Parenting Orders are sought in Court to ensure parents/carers are held to 

account for their children’s behaviour where they are seeking to minimise their involvement as 

parents/carers.  YOS parenting is linked closely with parenting in Early Help to support a 

preventative agenda in how we deliver parenting as well – working well with parents/carers on a 

voluntary basis to ensure the co-production of a safeguarding plan with the family. 

Page 102



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 52 

As part of Havering YOS’ assessment, we require the young person and the parents/carers to 

complete a self-assessment that is integrated into the assessment completed by our multi-agency 

staff, thus gathering their views and perspectives with regard to how they perceive themselves, 

their/their child’s offending behaviour, and also what the positive aspects are in the family’s life 

that it is important to build on. This impacts the way in which we will assess and intervene in a 

young person/family’s life, and we value the voices of the family, who we consider to be an expert 

in their own life.   

Havering YOS also asks for feedback from young people and their parent/carer during their Order 

and after their Order is finished.  Traditionally this is done using Viewpoint.  We also ask 

parents/carers and young people to complete updates on their self-assessments going forward 

through their Order so we have an accurate portrayal of how they feel they are progressing.  We 

need to get better at using this information to inform how we deliver services and intervene going 

forward, and this is something Havering YOS is aware of and needs to be kept accountable for by 

the relevant governance. 

It’s important to note here, as well, that due to the above working patterns we are seeing a 

reduction in First Time Entrants (FTEs) and also re-offending.   

We still have several areas of challenge.  The first is continue to invest in our relationships 

between services to ensure good outcomes for our young people.  In feedback from the YOS 

staff, we are still experiencing a need to improve co-ordination when several agencies have 

assessments open at the same time.  We regularly experience young people who are in the midst 

of crisis and have two, sometimes three assessments open to different agencies including the 

YOS, and this needs to be addressed going forward.  This will also feed into the evidence to 

support a locality model of delivery, and also supporting the YOS into more holistic and family-led 

work. 

Demonstrate the extent to which the functions of the LSCB as set out in Working 

Together are being effectively discharged. This should include assessments of 

policies and procedures to keep children safe, including: 

 Havering YOS complies with the policies and procedures for the safer recruitment of all 

members of staff, including appropriate vetting of all staff including staff from other agencies.  

DBS checks are completed by HR, but we request to see DBS checks and have end dates of DBS 

checks as a standard template question in our supervision notes.  For all our seconded staff from 

other agencies we request to see DBS checks as part of the vetting process and are involved in 

interviewing our seconded staff with their home agency.  For our commissioned contractors for 

the Junior Attendance Centre and our gangs mentoring project, we vet all staff that have direct 

contact with children and insist on seeing DBS checks for any other sub-contracted professional 

or mentor. 

All staff have had the appropriate level of safeguarding training, and those who need a re-

fresher course are all booked on for October’s LSCB training.  All YOS staff have also completed 

the following training.  Restorative Justice, AIM2 assessment training, Good Lives training and 

Page 103



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 53 

desistance training.  In addition, all YOS staff have had at least level 1 gangs training (delivered in 

house) and four of the six front line staff have had level 2 training.  All YOS staff have received 

the in-house CSE training as well, and two members of staff have had externally delivered 

training in supporting children who are domestically violent towards their parents. 

 The YOS has a very clear process for stepping up cases to MASH if we feel a child is suffering 

significant harm and at risk of/suffering abuse.  Havering YOS regularly steps up cases to MASH 

and the need for a clear, concise and swift response to our step-ups is fed-back to social workers 

dealing with our concerns.  The relationship between YOS and MASH/assessment is improving, 

although we will need to continue building relationships and communication lines between 

agencies to ensure we implement fully learning from previous child deaths. 

 

Havering YOS is fully aware of the priority issues within Havering Local Authority and by the 

Youth Justice Board.  We are in attendance at the CSE and Missing panel, as well as at the 

steering group for that panel, and have a say in the strategic development of tacking CSE in the 

borough.  All our staff present cases where needed to the CSE panel and are all aware of the 

need to include risk of CSE in assessments – particularly with regard to the welfare of the young 

person – but also the impact on their likelihood of re-offending.  Havering YOS also delivers 

group work for female offenders which covers topics such as self-esteem, putting yourself at risk 

and healthy boundaries in relationships. 

Include a clear account of progress that has been made in implementing actions from 

individual Serious Case Reviews / Learning Reviews (SCRs/ LRs) completed during the 

year in question, plans to evaluate the impact of these actions and to monitor how these 

improvements are being sustained over time. This also applies to SCRs commissioned in 

previous years where any actions remained outstanding at the start of the reporting year.  

This was the addressed learning for the YOS from the learning review for Child LS. 

Theme from Learning reviews for child  LS 

Evidence required from  CSC, Police, YOS 

RISK ASSESSMENTS IN RELATION TO BAIL ADDRESSES 

Havering YOS ensure that 

whenever a bail address is 

proposed and they are in 

Court a thorough address 

check is undertaken.  

 

The issue of young people 

appearing in out of borough 

Courts and on non-youth 

Tim 

Churchward 

 

 

 

Tim 

Churchward 

 Currently the process regarding the 

servicing of Youth Courts still falls short of 

this type of hearing. If a young offender 

appears on a non-youth court date 

currently there is the potential for bail 

addresses to be proposed at Court without 

contact with the home YOS. The current 

guidance to magistrates and legal advisors 

is that they should ask the PLO at Court to 

check the suitability of the address. This 

Page 104



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 54 

Court days is still an issue.  would however only check the address for 

known perpetrators and would not involve 

a wider check. 

Update CR WG 4
th

 July 2016 

AP to request an update from Jonathan 

Taylor:  this was requested on 12.07.16 

 

Havering YOS has ensured whenever a bail address is proposed in Court we have a Police 

check done on the residence to ensure we know who lives there and if any red flags come up for 

the address.  The further conversations to be had in this arena are when the YOS and social care 

have different views on an appropriate placement for bail.  The YOS has also fed back to the 

Court users group regarding youths appearing on non-youth Court days – however as explained 

in the LSCB notes above, we are reliant on the magistrates and legal system to support us in this.  

All has been fed back to magistrates via the Court Clerk in charge of the Court users group 

meeting. 

The above actions have been completed and the YOS was informed the learning we received 

from this review has been evidenced and action as requested. 

Havering College of Further and Higher Education     

Safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children is defined in the Department for Education’s 

Information for Schools and College Staff. Part 1 of Keeping Children Safe in Education 2016 

states that: 

“Safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children is everyone’s responsibility” and 

that…“they should consider, at all times, what is in the best interests of the child”.  

 

KCSiE 2016 also states that schools and colleges are responsible for: 

…“protecting children from maltreatment; preventing impairment of children’s health or 

development; ensuring that children grow up in circumstances consistent with the provision of 

safe and effective care; and taking action to enable all children to have the best outcomes”  

 

Havering College aims to ensure that all learners, wherever possible, achieve their learning goals 

and are not disadvantaged by barriers to learning such as financial, personal, health or social 

circumstances. 

 

 

 

Page 105



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 55 

Review of Safeguarding Activity 2016-17 

Please see attached Safeguarding and Prevent Action Plan for information regarding what 

Havering College of Further and Higher Education has done in terms of our safeguarding 

priorities and the manner in which we have utilised the views of learners and appropriate others. 

Havering College has contributed to the Havering SCB vision statement and strategic aims 

in the following ways: 

Ensuring that all staff receive regular safeguarding training by attending in house training and 

appropriate external training offered by the local authority, regional and national bodies. Training 

attended includes: 

 Optimus Safeguarding Conferences: Practical Strategies for Safeguarding in Schools, 

Mental Health & Online Safety 

 NSPCC 2 day Safeguarding Training (Safeguarding Lead) 

 Supporting Students with Caring Responsibilities 

 Impact of Domestic Abuse 

 Achieving Better Outcomes for the Child 

 Modern Day Slavery 

 

Training is cascaded through Safeguarding Team Meetings and Staff Development Training 

days. 98% of staff are up to date with compulsory Safeguarding Training; this figure is not 100% 

due to the outstanding 2% being hourly paid staff or long term leave. 93% of staff have attended 

workshops to raise awareness of Prevent (WRAP); further details on Safeguarding & Prevent 

Action Plan. The Safeguarding Team and Senior Managers are level 3 trained. Local authority 

school/college nurses have attended all three campuses and offered support for learners. 

 Timely interventions are made with regards to safeguarding concerns and all cases of alleged 

abuse are referred in accordance with the college Safeguarding Policy and Child Protection and 

“at risk” Adults’ Policy. Eleven referrals were made to relevant boroughs in this academic year; 2 

domestic abuse, 2 family difficulties and drug abuse, 3 Foundation Skills learners (ill-health 

concern and 2 inappropriate relationships), 3 inappropriate social media activity and 1 case of 

neglect. All cases were actioned by Social Services effectively. PEP meetings and professionals 

meetings have also been attended, as required, ensuring maximum support is available and 

prompt action is taken. Records are kept and shared according to the Information Sharing 

Protocol, enabling us to monitor effectiveness of interventions and outcomes for young people 

and “at risk adults”. The college is represented on the Children`s and Adults Safeguarding 

Operational Board and the Havering Mental Health Partnership Board. The college also has three 

college representatives who attend the Tri-borough SGV monthly meetings. 

Good practice is shared through the schools and colleges Pastoral/Behaviour and Attendance 

Partnership (BAP) and effective communication is maintained with the Education Inclusion and 

Support Service to try and ensure that Looked After children receive personal education plan 

Page 106



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 56 

(PEP) meetings to help track and promote their achievements. All Looked After Children (LAC) 

have a key worker in the college who monitors and ensures that all LAC receive help as required 

and receive their entitlements. Of the 46 Looked After Children attending the college in 2016/17, 

21 reside in Havering with 18 out of the 21 completing their course. 

Individual agency responses to key risks and priorities: 

On line safety continues to be a concern. The college has now contracted E-safe to continue with 

the Forensic Monitoring service next academic year. The service was introduced with the 

intention of safeguarding learners against the more unsavoury risks posed by online interactions. 

Designed to fulfil the legal obligations under the Prevent Duty and Ofsted`s Safeguarding 

Children and Young People Policy, e safe protects users by monitoring keystrokes as they are 

entered and imagery as it is accessed. Designated staff in Estates and Student Services receive 

daily encrypted reports via e mail and telephone calls are received if the company detect serious 

incidents.  

Learners are not always aware of the danger they are placing themselves in. Cases this year 

have included sexual exploitation and we have worked with the Borough Child Sexual 

Exploitation staff and police, both of whom have come into the college to meet with students. 

Grooming was also detected and interventions made to safeguard all learners involved. 

247 safeguarding related tutorials were delivered this academic year and in total 3138 learners 

attended these tutorials. We will continue to prioritise this throughout the next academic year. 

Mental ill-health amongst our learners is also of concern. 16 Student Services staff who attended 

a two day training course in Mental Health First Aid have been cascading the training to teaching 

and support staff from November 2015. To date, 54% of staff total have received this training. 

The training is now compulsory for teaching staff due to concerns raised at portfolio meetings 

regarding the increasing numbers of students presenting with mental ill-health. The college 

promoted National Mental Health Awareness Week with displays, activities, leaflets and tutorials.  

395 counselling sessions delivered over the 2016-17 academic year and a total of 201 learners 

with complex issues were intensively supported by Student Services staff. Out of 597 learners 

who received financial assistance from the 16-19 Bursary Fund, 93% were retained and able to 

complete their course. 

Referrals from the Student Services Team, including the counsellors, this year have included 

Addaction, East London Rape Crises Centre, Havering Talking Therapies (IAPT), Children and 

Adolescents Mental Health Services (CAMHS), Social Service, Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub, 

Havering Disability Team, Tavistock Gender Identity Clinic, Paul Hannaford Drugs Service, 

Havering PASC, Alone in London, Havering Carers, Havering MIND and Havering Recovery 

Community.  

Page 107



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 57 

Concerns around possible gang affiliation and pressures on young men are a concern and the 

counselling service has been focussing on breaking down the stigma of males accessing 

emotional support at our Construction Site on the Rainham Campus. 

Ardleigh Green campus ran a weekly Anxiety Support Group during lunch breaks. This group has 

had positive outcomes for learners who attend enabling them to deal with their anger and stress 

more effectively thus removing barriers to learning and improving overall behaviour.  

Ensuring that we have effective Learner Voice mechanisms in place is a priority for the college. 

Learner’s views on safeguarding are collected in a number of ways including Student Academic 

representative’s (StARs) events, which includes a Made a Difference Conference and 3 other 

major events. The  Students’ Union also collect learner’s views throughout the year but 

particularly during Learner Voice Week. 7 learners were trained as Peer Advice Leaders (PALs) 

offering other learners the opportunity to seek out their help or advice on any issues of concern. 

Other activities include forums, surveys and feedback/evaluation forms. Learner views fed back 

to Senior Managers via the Learner Voice Committee, Student Governors Committee and the 

Equality and Diversity Committee with responses recorded and fed back as appropriate. 

The College will continue to prioritise Safeguarding and Prevent throughout the 2017-18 

academic year. 

Example of Effective/Emerging Practice  

E-safe has proved a very effective method to monitor learners’ online activity and further ensure 

their safety. This system has also proved to be an effective way of learners flagging up their 

need for support. The sensitivity of the system picks up key words and due to all learners being 

aware of e-safe, there has been incidents where learners have typed in text related to emotional 

difficulties and overwhelming feelings, knowing this would be picked up and individual support 

given. This gives our learners another way of receiving help by removing potential barriers with 

approaching staff for support.  

Havering Housing Services  

Introduction 

This update has been pulled together with the view that Housing Services, as a service area 

within the London Borough of Havering, is a service area within the wider corporate partner status 

that the Council has on Havering’s Safeguarding Children Board. 

Referrals 

As a service area, our officers will refer any cases or concerns involving the children of our 

residents as and when these arise. Our frontline officers have a very visible presence within the 

community and any concerns they raise is made through our dedicated Housing MASH Link 

Officer.  The Housing MASH Link Officer reports on a weekly basis back to our Tenancy 

Page 108



Havering Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2015-16 

 58 

Sustainment Management and will feedback directly to officers about the progression of any 

cases that have been referred. 

Training 

Housing Services officers regularly undertake safeguarding training (covering both children and 

adults). There are also opportunities available to participate in online training activities which staff 

are encouraged to complete. Training sessions have included for example, Self-neglect, Hoarding 

and Private Fostering. 

Contribution 

Since March 2017, managers from Housing Services Tenancy Sustainment team meet regularly 

with Children Services’ Leaving Care team. Housing Services is acutely aware of the difficulties 

that some young people may face when leaving care and making that transition towards an 

independent adult life, especially when facing the challenge of looking after themselves and the 

responsibilities of running their own home for the first time.  

The meeting provides Housing Services with an opportunity to gauge the support needs of young 

care leavers in need of social housing; to scope the appropriate level of support they need 

through the first stage of becoming a secure council tenant – during that initial Introductory 

(probationary) period of their tenancy. Through working closely with young people from the 

outset, we are encouraging long-term independence and tenancy sustainment. 

 

 

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 MINUTES
	Minutes

	5 THE OLIVE AP ACADEMY
	6 IN YEAR ACCESS PROTOCOL
	7 PERFORMANCE UPDATE REPORT - QUARTER THREE
	v3 FINALChildren and Learning OS Presentation Q3

	8 REGIONALISATION OF ADOPTION SERVICES IN LONDON & THE ADOPTION SUPPORT FUND
	9 HAVERING LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD- ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17
	HSCB 2016-17  Annual report (v2)


